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Friday, January 27, 2006

--- Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Millar?   


MR. MILLAR:   Good morning Mr. Chair.  I think we're here to continue with panel 3, but I believe Mr. Rodger had some preliminary matters. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger?   


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


Mr. Rodger:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Panel members.  Just to advise the Board that we have completed responses to undertakings J6.5, J6.6, J6.7 and J6.8.  All my friends and the Board should have copies now.  There are a few outstanding ones, but I am advised that those should be forthcoming later this morning.  


That’s the preliminary matter, sir.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


Mr. DeVellis?   

TORONTO HYDRO CORPORATION - PANEL 2; RESUMED:  

J.S. Couillard; Previously sworn.

James Cochrane; Previously sworn.

Pankaj Sardana; Previously sworn.

Richard Zebrowski; Previously sworn.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  


Good morning panel.  My name is John DeVellis, I represent the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition. 


MR. KAISER:  Do you think you can come up to the front row, Mr. DeVellis?  It's easier for the reporter, easier for us, easier for the panel.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Sure.  All set now.  


I want to ask first about undertaking response J3.4.  Now, this was an updated table to the table provided in response to an undertaking from my client, it was VECC 26.  You don't need to turn up the -- 


MR. COUILLARD:  I would just like to get to my section.  Yes. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, the original table was found at schedule 64 of your evidence. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm just wondering if the same exercise would need to be done for the original table as is done for this; in other words, the normalization of the headcount?


MR. COUILLARD:  We have not done the large, large normalization exercise.  We have only done it -- the undertaking was related to the distribution companies, so we have not done the same exercise for the shared services.  No, we only discuss -- just a second.  


The total schedule was never done.  There was a Board Staff interrogatory 4 where there was a question, and justification of the two-year increase for a specific category that we have provided.  But the total revision of the schedule has not been done.  It’s a very cumbersome exercise.  


The one we undertook for THESL took about a week to do, considering all the changes in our systems.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But would we have the same problems comparing year-over-year differences in the original schedule as we did in the THESL-only schedule?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, there are some issues with people moving in and out of areas.  Like, we’ve got the back -- a very quick and dirty analysis, if you allow me the term, and I had a discussion with Mr. Millar during this proceeding about what the change would have done on the average salaries.  I'm more than happy to read again what that would have changed if you have questions regarding some of the variances. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  No, it is in the transcript; that's fine.  Okay.  You’re saying that in order to update the original schedule it would be quite an onerous task.  Is that what you’re saying?


MR. COUILLARD:  I mean, if we have another week of proceedings we could probably do it.  I'm hoping not.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's fine.  Now, if you could just turn again to undertaking J3.4. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. DVELLIS:  Now, let me ask, first of all, about the average base compensation.  Looking, for example, at your unionized portion, your unionized staff. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  You see the average base compensation is $65,747.  Can you tell me what is the normal work week, how many hours per week?


MR. COUILLARD:  35 hours a week. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  35 hours.  Okay.  Then I get, based on 35-hour work week, an average hourly rate of $36.12.  Do you accept that, subject to check?


MR. COUILLARD:  The outside workers have a 40-hour week, and some of them are weekly salaries.  So I mean, I would probably -- I don't know the proportion of outside workers, but it’s a significant amount of them.  Like, all trades and a lot of people outside are 40-hour week. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So we don't know the proportion, but if it's a 40-hour week, it would be $31.61 per hour.


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  For a 35-hour week, $36.12 per hour.


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Would the outside workers be on the higher end of the scale or lower end of the scale?


MR. COUILLARD:  It would depend on what they are doing.  I mean, there is a wide range.  Linesmen, the crew leaders in our lines are probably at the higher end of the scales.  Some other people are not doing the same type of specialized work, and they would be at the lower scale. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, do you have the exhibit that I handed out yesterday?  I believe it was K6.3, Mr. Millar.  


If you look under -- now this is the labour force survey for December 2005 for Ontario. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Okay. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  And under the row entitled, “union coverage –“


MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  The average hourly rate for December 2005 is $23.67. 


MR. COUILLARD:  That's what I see. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, depending on whether you're talking about the 40-hour week or 35-hour work week, that's between 30 and 50 percent higher -- lower rather, than the average for THESL's unionized staff. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Is there a question?   


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, my question is, do you care to comment on why THESL's unionized staff appears to be so much higher than the Ontario average?


MR. COUILLARD:  I think we had a lot of discussion on the issue of compensation yesterday.  One of the first is, I do not know what this covers.  I mean, a union employee could be anything from a custodian or it can include people that are doing -- that are lower type of salaries versus more specialized type of salaries.   I have no input in this data, so it is very tough for me to compare if this data is higher or lower than what our people are doing.  


When you say “unionized”, that's a very broad category.  It’s like saying all lawyers, what's the average salary for lawyers, and they should all be the same.  I would presume there is some fairly big differences in lawyers’ compensation.  They would also be in this particular area. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Fair enough.  It’s a broad brush of the entire province.  But your own average would also be broad.  We would have some people at the lower end of scale, and some people at the higher end.  Some people would be higher than $65,000, some lower. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Most of our people, especially in the areas of the union, most of our people are specific trades.  Like, the large majority of our unionized people are in the trade line, which are very specialized and which will likely attract a higher compensation.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But even if you look down the list at other categories in the labour force, for example, management occupation, the average is 31.50 an hour.  That’s still less than THESL's overall average.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Once again, I mean, I can’t really –- I don't have any input to these numbers, like, how much of it -- we've talked about the difference for Toronto versus outside of Toronto.  This obviously does not seem to reflect that.  It's only Ontario.  It's very tough for me to comment on a set of data that is so broad versus our own narrow data.  

     What I -– you know, towards or labour negotiation, you know, when we talk to other utilities, when we talk to -- we look at -- sometimes you are able to get your hands on some other labour agreements, for example, that another utility has, we didn't find that our salary was way over, like, what other people were paying.

     MS. SPOEL:  Mr. DeVellis, I know you very helpfully handed out those documents yesterday.  Mine -- I thought I left them here last night and they seem to have disappeared.  I wonder if there are any extra copies around.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  I do have extra copies and I put them at the back of the room.
     MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Just for your reference, the column we were looking at is the second from the right.

     Now, the next question I have is about your overtime wages for unionized staff.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, I get a 29.78 percent increase in 2004 and 2006.  If you look go back to Undertaking J3.4, from 4905 to 6368.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you explain the reason for that?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, it will depend on the work program.  When we look at the amount of work that we're doing, we always try to see if it's better to do it with -– well, three things we’re looking at.  Should we contract out some of that work, and I think we went through earlier in this proceeding what’s kind of our criteria for contracting out.  We’re also looking at, you know, should we hire more people to do this job or should we try to absorb it with overtime.  So these estimates are developed through our own estimates of how much, you know, will be required.  

     We know, for example, that in 2005 we had a year that -– and the big job happened from 2004/2005.  But there was a lot of -– a lot of storms.  The weather was not very cooperative to us.  It wasn’t the revenue perspective.  But there's a downside as well when you get a lot of storms that creates some increase in overtimes.  That bit was reflected because we had those early in the year.

     But I think it's reflective of the amount of work and type of capital, the type of program that we are expecting to get done during that period.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I understand using overtime as a means of controlling total labour costs, but if you look at the total labour costs, just looking at base wages for unionized staff, there's been, from 2005 to 2006, a 5.7 percent increase.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Of which 3 to $4 million is directly related to an increase in wages.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And it’s also an increase in staff.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, yesterday Mr. Shepherd asked you about the incentive compensation plan.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, sir.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  And you pointed to the scorecard, which is appendix 6G.  And you’re discussing the -- on the THC scorecard –-

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  -- the financial commitments portion of it?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  You mentioned that there were four components of that.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  I believe you said that one of the four with net income --
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  -- is the part that would be -- should be disallowed --
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  -- from your distribution --
     MR. COUILLARD:  To correct that, that's what the distribution rate handbook is saying, and I think I mentioned that our submission had stated that we had removed it, but in fact we had not.  And the major reason is, at the end, it just didn't get material enough and we just didn't update our narrative previously.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And what are the other three components?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Just a second.
     MR. COCHRANE:  There are two interest coverage metrics.  One’s from operations interest coverage and EBIT interest coverage, and the fourth one is return on equity.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  I just want to take you to the portion of the handbook that refers to incentive compensation.  It’s in our Exhibit K6.4.  

     Does the Panel have –- there are extra copies at the back of the room.  

     So the portion that I was going to refer you to is at page 41 of the handbook, about four or five pages in.  Do you have it?
     MR. COUILLARD:  I have it.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I'm sure you’re familiar with this.  It starts at the top, second sentence: 

“If benefits flow directly to shareholders, then ratepayers should not be responsible for the related costs.  The applicant will be required to file details of the incentive compensation plan, including a listing of the performance measures and criteria, and will be required to identify the shareholder-related component and ratepayer- related component.”

     And in the next paragraph: 

          “For general guidance, the Board would normally

characterize targets related to rate of return,    earnings and/or share performance as being shareholder-related.”

     So you wouldn't characterize the other three components of financial commitments as falling under the Board's direction there?
     MR. COUILLARD:  No.  I think overall our position is that even the net income should, in its way, benefit the customer as well because it allows us to generate cash as well as to invest in our capital -– our capital plan.  

     The other three measures, we would relate them more to our credit-rating, to our situation from a credit-rating perspective, which we believe also benefits the customers.  Maintaining a good credit-rating for us is a big contributor at lowering costs.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, has Toronto Hydro, THESL, changed to a flex-time benefits package?
     MR. COUILLARD:  No, we have not.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, the next area of questions is with respect to corporate shared services.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm going to refer again to Exhibit K6.4.  Beginning now -- this is the second document of K6.4 -- no, sorry, it’s still with the handbook, page 42, the last sentence on the first paragraph of page 42: 

          “LPMA also submitted that the applicant should be

          required to file a description of the specific

          methodology used in determining prices, not the

          general methodology.” 

     And then we see on the next page the Board’s decision, at page 43, the short paragraph in the middle of the page:
          “The Board will adopt the revision proposed by

LMPA regarding the price-determination methodology.  This change will indicate the need for precise information not just vague descriptions.”

     Do you see that there?
    
MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, the next part I want to refer you to is now switching to the Affiliate Relationships Code, which is also part of that package.  Page 5, paragraph 2.2.1.  

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, this is from the Affiliate Relationships Code for electricity distributors and transmitters, provided November 24, 2003, which is the most recent Affiliate Relationships Code.  And paragraph 2.2.1 says:

“The services agreement shall include the type, quantity and quality of service, pricing mechanisms, cost-allocation mechanisms, confidentiality agreements, proportion of risks and dispute resolution process." 


Do you see that there?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, I'm just going to turn to one of the services agreement, and that is at attached to VECC interrogatory number 8, attachment 9.  

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  If you go to schedule 9 for example, you have corporate governance and overhead. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  THESL price, $11,358,000. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay. Now, you haven't provided precise information to justify the amounts being charged, have you?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  Not in the agreement, however, this is discussed as part of our budgeting process, how we are allocating.  So there were obviously discussions with the parties when we actually come with these numbers. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, my question is:  You haven't presented that in evidence here before the Board.  

     MR. COUILLARD:  We have provided evidence in our submission about how this portion is actually calculated, we're just going to track it.  It is not in the agreement, but there has been evidence filed showing that this corporate is derived from a percentage of revenue. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Just staying with the agreement though, what the ARCH requires is that you show the type, quantity and quality of service, pricing mechanisms, cost-allocation mechanism. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, first, the question you asked was:  Was this provided in evidence in this case?  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.


MR. COUILLARD:  And it was provided in Board Staff interrogatory number 10.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.


MR. COUILLARD:  As for the agreement, no, it's not included in the agreement.  Although, when the agreement was signed, it is obviously discussed by the parties. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  The Board has no way of determining or judging whether that's an appropriate apportionment. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry?   

     MR. DeVELLIS:  The Board has no way of determining whether that apportionment was done properly based on what is in the agreement or in evidence. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  I think sufficient evidence has been filed to show that if you take, especially if you get into the confidential area in the afternoon or this morning, that 97 percent of 2006 -- 97 percent of -- if you take the portion of THESL revenue for 2006, it is equivalent to 97 percent of the total allocation. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, if you go to Board Staff number 10, which you just referred to. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  What the Board Staff asked you there is to give the total cost to Toronto Hydro Corporation for each service and the amount allocated to THESL. 

     MR.COCHRANE:  It did not say the amount allocated to THESL, it said describe the allocation basis that determines the estimated cost to THESL. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So that's still relying on, in terms of the Handbook’s requirement that you provide precise information on determination of prices?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  The last area I want to ask about is these specific service charges.  

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And we have an interrogatory about the changes in the service charges, VECC number 29.  Section E, tab 2, schedule 29. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, I understand in your evidence you've said that these are regulated charges, and the increases are in line with the Board's guidelines. 

     MR.SARDANA:   That's correct. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, do you agree, though, that over-regulated charges are subject to the same consideration, in terms of rate mitigation, as other regulated charges?   

     MR.SARDANA:  I think it's important to keep in mind that a lot of these are revenue offsets.  So to the extent that we've moved to a higher rate and there's a larger number that falls out of that, it's to the benefit of ratepayers. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I understand that, but if you look at some of the specific increases, for example, disconnect, reconnect, and metre, close to $50 to $185.  Now, I understand it’s a revenue offset, but for that individual, that's quite a shock, the increase in that particular item.  And there are other items there that increase by 200 percent, 650 percent, for duplicate invoices.  

     MR.SARDANA:   I completely agree that it could be a rate shock to a customer, but again I think you have to look at the rate base as a whole; all customers, in other words.  It's not our view that we should cross-subsidize, or that our customers should be cross-subsidizing others.  So I think all we've done in this application is we've moved to the Board-approved rates and, by admission, saying that we hadn't got those rates in place and now we would like to get there. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Do you agree that a phase-in of these charges, of the increases, would at least lessen the rate shock for the individuals subject to these rate charges?

     MR.SARDANA:  If you just bear with me for one minute.  I think it's fair for us to say that we did consider that when we looked at all the specific charges, and it's not a material amount that gets charged in here.  So it's not a lot of reconnect- or disconnect-type work that could cause a lot of customers a lot of harm here. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  That was only one example.  There are others on the list.  


What is the total revenue impact of the increases to the service charges?   

     MR.SARDANA:   Are you asking just about the increases?   

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  I think it's at paragraph 4 of tab 8, 3.7 million.
     MR. SARDANA:  We're suffering from a number of binders here.  That's right.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  And that's the incremental --
     MR. SARDANA:  That's right.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  So the phase-in would affect the revenue requirement by approximately, say, $2 million if it was phased in halfway.
     MR. SARDANA:  Right, but I think a phase-in would have continued at the cross-subsidy, and that’s what we are trying to get away from.  You know, we've got Board-approved rates in place.  It was a matter of moving to those Board-approved rates and the cross-subsidy right away and carry on.  And it's not a huge impact.  And, as my colleague points out, we would obviously advise customers of these rate increases when they come for the specific services to our system.
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  If I could just add to that.  We’re isolating here on one rate.  A customer’s bill is made up of a number of different components, distribution components, so depending on his usage of these particular items, and he has a fair degree of choice in terms of, will these rates be applied to him or not.  So you really have to have look at this rate in the context of the overall bill.  And it may be -- over the course of a year, it may be small and, therefore, why would you want to mitigate it on that basis?
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, if you spread it over the year, perhaps, but the customer will be facing this bill in one month.
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm sorry, I missed the end of that?
     MR. DeVELLIS:  The specific service charges wouldn't be spread over a year, they would be billed to the customer when they are incurred.
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  When he uses them, that’s right.  But he wouldn't be using these all the time either.  I mean, these are special circumstance kind of charges and it's a user-pay system, basically.  So if he makes the choice that he wants to incur this kind of a cost through his non-payment of account, or whatever it may that be leads up to it, then –- I mean, he’s had control of that particular item.  And he can very easily avoid these kind of charges in these kinds of circumstances as well.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Don't you think – I’m not going to dwell on this much longer - don't you think in some cases it’s not a question of the customer's choice, it’s circumstances beyond his or her control, and then they’re hit with a hefty bill to reconnect or other service charges.
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm sorry?
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, this is going to be my last question on this.  You said that this is a customer's choice, whether he incurs these charges or not, and my question to you was, Don't you think that in some cases it's not the customer's choice, it's circumstances beyond his control that lead him to have to incur these charges?
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Well, I guess that's arguable.  I mean, in terms of a -- I guess maybe to just isolate an example here.  Installation or removal of a road-control device, this is a collection device that’s used out there.  It’s used after a number of attempts to try to collect from the customer.  We try to work with the customer in terms of trying to get his account up to date.  And if all attempts fail then -– and we’re fully disconnecting him, then we will install a load-control device.  I mean, he has had some opportunity –- he or she has had some opportunity to deal with the situation.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Dingwall?
     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Brian Dingwall.  I'm here to ask you some questions and behalf Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

I would like to begin with a couple of general questions for which we will not have to turn up any documents, hopefully, and which are intended on addressing the whole question of the debt of THC and the impact that other affiliates may have on THC's debt, and where that might go in the future.  

Would you agree that THESL has tied itself to the fortunes of THC with respect to the debt rate that it will attract?
     MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Dingwall, can you just add some specificity to that question?  Can you be a little more specific about what you mean by that?
     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, by THESL having entered into an agreement with THC whereby THC is the holder of THESL's debt, the debt rate that THC attracts through its own combined operations becomes, then, a best debt rate that THESL can get.
     MR. SARDANA:  I think, in general, that's true, but THESL forms the bulk of THC, so to the extent that that percentage is a large allocation - and we've stated on the record that it's upwards of 97 percent - then effectively the debt rate that THC is attracting is the debt rate that THESL is attracting, yes, but it's a symbiotic relationship.  I mean, the debt of THC is the debt of THESL, sort of thing.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, in the past, has THC not had to provide credit support for Energy Services?
     MR. SARDANA:  Yes, it has.
     MR. DINGWALL:  And for energy trading, that can be a significant commitment; correct?
     MR. SARDANA:  Yes, it can be.  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, Mr. O'Brien has previously stated that Energy Services is going to exit that business after its agreement with the city expires on December 31st, 2006.
     MR. SARDANA:  That's right.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Does that continue to be your understanding?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, actually, it's not our understanding, it is a fact.  We have no more contract after that period.  And the assistance of THC to the energy services was in the early stage of that business, back in market opening.  As I mentioned earlier, this business doesn’t need money because we are using a large part of the money generated by that affiliate business to pay our dividend to the city, and we use it to purchase the Street Lighting assets.  So the affiliate’s needs for money are very, very low.
     MR. DINGWALL:  As that contract winds down, I presume that the credit support will become less and less required.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, it’s already reduced significantly over the last year and a half, and there is no need –- there will be no need after that to give credit or a prudential type of support for some of these contracts. 
     MR. KAISER:  How much are the prudentials in the past?
     MR. SARDANA:  Currently we’ve got letters of credit posted for the THESL business just shy of 10 million.  And there are what we call parental guarantees, which are not hard support.  I think at the end of September of last year it was about 150 million.
     MR. KAISER:  When you say parental guarantees, guaranteed by whom?
     MR. SARDANA:  By THC on behalf of THESL.
     MR. KAISER:  Doing it through THC, does that get around the restriction in the rate handbook as to the extent of guarantees that the utility can --
     MR. SARDANA:  No.  We actually do calculate that within our metric, so that's the 25 percent of equity method --
     MR. KAISER:  So it is below the 25 percent.
     MR. SARDANA:  It's well within that covenant.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I think, Mr. Couillard, you mentioned in passing that THC lent money to Street Lighting for the purchase of the street lights from the city?  

Let me ask it this way:  Where did the Street Lighting company, which doesn’t appear to do much business, get $60 million to purchase street lights from the city?
     MR. COUILLARD:  The money was coming from our unregulated THESI business through -- there's a note right now that obviously has been issued from THC to Street Lighting, awaiting how we are going to do final capitalization structure for this company.  We are looking at different options, including a potential merger with our Energy Services as their business is already winding down between the two affiliates.  But, really, where THC got its money to be able to purchase the $60 million was through our unregulated –- sorry, our THESI, basically, business and mainly these wholesale contracts.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So would I understand it correctly, then, that there’s a debt note between the Street Lighting company and THC?
     MR. COUILLARD:  There’s a short-term note right now until we finalize how we’re going to capitalize the company in the first two quarters of this year.
     MR. DINGWALL:  What’s the debt rate on that note?
     MR. SARDANA:  Because it's a short-term note, it was structured at short-term rate, so we're charging 4 percent right now.  And that is the commercial rate, we charge commercial rates on inter-company notes. 

     MR. KAISER:  Just to get it clear, who is charging who? 

     MR. SARDANA:  Toronto Hydro Corporation right now is charging Toronto Hydro Street Lighting on a one-year note basis. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  So that's a one-year note then, from your last answer?

     MR. SARDANA:  It’s up to a one-year note, it’s a demand note.  As Mr. Couillard has pointed out, our intention is soon after we have our first board meeting of the year to also present them with our restructuring plan for that street lighting and the THESI business.  And as has been pointed out, one of the things we're exploring is to try and see if there is a merger opportunity between the two unregulated affiliates.  


Once that were to happen, that note would then be called back my THC and a re-capitalization of those two companies would occur.  What the form that have recap would be is unclear at this time. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Right, because you haven't made the decision yet on how to do that.


MR. SARDANADA:  Pardon me?


MR. DINGWALL:  Because you haven’t made the decision yet on where it should go and what it should look like. 

     MR. SARDANA:  Something like that, yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Is there any short-term debt between THESL and THC?

     MR. SARDANA:  Not short-term debt.  The only obligation that THC currently has with THESL, or THESL currently has with THC, is the letter of credit that we posted with the IESO for prudential, because all of our short-term bank lines are at the THC level.  So the letter of credit is quote “on an on-lend-down basis” to THESL, and THC charges THESL a fee for that.  


And again the fee is at commercial terms, based on what the banks charge us, plus a bump up for THC's admin.


MR. DINGWALL:  Can you go into a little bit more detail on that? 

     MR. SARDANA:  Sure.  I think it’s -- I'm looking to counsel because I'm not sure if we filed our confidential undertaking on it.  No, we have not yet.  When we do, you will see a table showing the fee structure that we currently have with our syndicate of banks.  So for every letter of credit that we issue, that THC issues, the banks charge us a fee on the face value of that letter of credit.  


What we've done for the THESL to IESO letter of credit, which has been posted by THC on behalf of THESL, is to charge that fee -- we are charged that fee by the banks, but in turn, THC bumps that up to THESL by five basis points as an admin fee, and that is commercial practice.  It's required from the Tax Act. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  And that undertaking will show that bump up?

     MR. SARDANA:  The undertaking will not show the bump up because it didn't require that. 

     Mr. Rodger:  Mr. Dingwall, I think this line of questioning might be better off in the in-camera section. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Certainly, Mr. Rodger.


My final question on this point, then, with respect to interest rates in general.  I take it from Mr. O'Brien's testimony earlier on that there is some desire to grow some of these affiliates, and that's in your 2004 annual report as well. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  Obviously, and once again this is probably going to be easier to explore when we get into the confidential section, which has all the different companies with the five-year business plan.  There is a desire in some of these areas to -- in the Telecom area and also in energy services. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  We don't need to go into that much detail.  We could have stopped at, yes.  I'll get into further detail later on.  My question following on that is, given that you've got a regulated entity which has a responsibility not just to its shareholder but also to ratepayers, and given that you've got a corporate mandate to grow in varying levels of risk a number of businesses under the same parent company, why didn't you think about going to market directly with the debt through THESL?   

     MR. SARDANA:  I think, Mr. Dingwall, it still the deemed debt that we're carrying here with the City.  I think that's what you're getting at.  And I think I mentioned this in previous testimony.  It's not our call to go and monetize that note; it is the City's call.  So I think we made it quite clear that we would like to go to market for that note because -- and as has been pointed out by several of the intervenors, market rates seem to be lower than that 6.8 percent.  Obviously, that would be of benefit to all parties, I would think, except perhaps our shareholder because they are enjoying this coupon.  But it's their call. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  That sounds a discussion we can probably leave safely to argument.  Thank you for your answer, I'm going to moreover onto another area now.


I'm not going to can you to turn this up, but in response to VECC interrogatory number 8, there were a number of service agreements produced which are between various affiliates and THESL.  And the structure of these agreements appears to be that they have bulk prices for some of the function that are identified, such as IT or HR, things like that, and then there's a reference to a schedule for “fleet services” based around what appear to be rental or lease rates.  I'm going to ask you, then, to -- can you tell me, apart from the other documents that were produced on day 3, which are the service-level agreement for water heater services, the agreement for licence and occupancy of underground ducts and the street lighting service agreement, are these all reflective of the current costs going back and forth, from and to THESL?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  What I would like to do, if you don't mind, and I will ask you to turn up -- let's try attachment number 8 to VECC interrogatory 8. 


MR. RODGER:  What was the reference again, please, Mr. Dingwall?

     MR. DINGWALL:  VECC interrogatory number 8.  So that would be E-2, number 8, then attachment 8. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Attachment 8?

     MR. DINGWALL:  This is an agreement between Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited and Toronto Hydro Street Lighting Inc.  On page 4 of 10 of the agreement, the pages are marked at the bottom, there's a “fleet leasing schedule.” 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  There's one column which appears to be monthly lease rates, and another column that is vehicle-hire rate. 

     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that the vehicle-hire rate is supposed to coordinate somehow to the monthly rate?  Is it a subunit of that rate? 

     MR. COCHRANE:  No, it is not. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  What is it?

     MR. COCHRANE:  Essentially, it is an hourly rate which applies when a vehicle is taken from a pool.  The most efficient way is not necessarily to dedicate all vehicles to all entities and all departments within the individual entities, but rather to have a certain number of vehicles maintained in a fleet-centralized pool.  So when those are then taken out because the business unit in question doesn’t require a dedicated vehicle 100 percent of the time, for which it pays a monthly lease rate, it can in the alternative go to the centralized fleet pool and hire out a vehicle at an hourly rate.  It is much like taking a cab as opposed to renting a car. 


MR. DINGWALL:  So vehicle are either leased on a monthly rate or on an hourly rate?

     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  The hourly rate, you mentioned that it occurs when people take a vehicle out and then ends when they bring the vehicle back.  Is that pretty much how it operates?

     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, typically it happens for a specific job.  So a specific job requires a vehicle that the business unit does not have amongst it leased vehicles, it will take the vehicle out for, let's say, five hours from the centralized pool and have the vehicle-hire rate applied to the charge for its job. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Do you monitor which companies use which vehicles with what frequency?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, Mr. Dingwall, are you asking if there are statistics on who is using the pool and when?   

     MR. DINGWALL:  Yes. 

     MR. COCHRANE:  No, I don't believe we have those specific statistics.  What we would track is for each department, basically, how much it is incurring in lease rates and then the total amount of vehicle charge that it is charging to individual jobs, and those vehicle charges may come from the use of its own vehicles or it may come from the use of a pooled vehicle.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Now, just maybe to add to this.  Our affiliates have their own vehicles, so they have their own dedicated vehicles.  So this type of arrangement is more within THESL, to try to lower the cost of our vehicles.  It was a way for us to try to be more an efficient, saying, You don't need five of truck A, because if you put them in the pool, we only need three.  That was the main reason why we went that way.
     MR. DINGWALL:  How many vehicles are in this pool?
     MR. COCHRANE:  How many vehicles are where?
     MR. DINGWALL:  In this pool that is used.
     MR. COCHRANE:  I don't know precisely, but it is a relatively small proportion of the overall vehicles.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Can you ballpark that?
     MR. COCHRANE:  No, I cannot.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, am I to understand correctly that each affiliate has its own vehicles and these pooled vehicles are in addition to that and are used as needed?

MR. COCHRANE:  Yes.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, if the affiliate needed a vehicle out of the pool, we could probably do the same thing and it will be charged back at that point.  But there's no -– like, as a rule of thumb, for example, Street Lighting is, like, two or three, maybe four trucks.  Energy Services has one, like, green car that they are solely dedicated to them.  And I think Telecom probably has four or five vans that are solely dedicated to them.  So there are not a lot of vehicles for the affiliates.  Most of our 700 fleet -– 700-vehicle fleet is THESL.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that Street Lighting is going to be a little busier now that they bought $60 million worth of the lights.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, we’re pretty happy about this.  But, once again, when we look at our Street Lighting in the past, I think we had way too much resource for it.  If you look at the financials we'll be discussing confidentially this afternoon, you’ll notice that Street Lighting’s performance over the last couple of years has not really been a high contributor to Toronto Hydro.  

What we have seen, in discussing Street Lighting, is you’re probably going to need one or two more vehicles, and these vehicles will be purchased and allocated directly to Street Lighting next year.  So there will be kind of a pass-through, because in this particular case, THESL will buy the vehicles for Street Lighting because the vehicles are owned by the distribution company, but the charge that THESL will incur will be directly passed through our Street Lighting company, which means the customers are not going to have to pay for these new vehicles and there’s no cross-subsidy.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Moving to a slightly higher level of detail, I take it, then, the vehicle hire rates only apply to the fleet vehicles that are in the pool and that are used occasionally by various affiliates; correct?
     MR. COCHRANE:  They actually have two purposes, but in terms of transacting between departments or between entities, that's correct.  The hire rate only applies to pool vehicles.
     MR. DINGWALL:  And the monthly lease rate applies to those vehicles that are directly allocated to the affiliates; correct?
     MR. COCHRANE:  That are dedicated, yes, essentially.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, you answered a little earlier on, I think, that you don't track specifically what's allocated to the affiliates, or is that just with respect to the hire rate?
     MR. COUILLARD:  With respect to the directly allocated vehicle, it is tracked.  Like, how many vehicles Street Lighting has, how many vehicles Energy Services and Telecom have, that is tracked because that's included in their charges.  

For example, let's say in the business plan there were, like, three trucks for Street Lighting, and because now we purchased Street Lighting we need a fourth one, then that would be tracked automatically.  And there’s a charge that goes every month and there’s a settlement every month for these charges between the affiliates and the distribution company.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So the leases are set on a monthly basis based on use.  Is that how it's done?

MR. COCHRANE:  Well, the lease rate is set for the year based on the expected costs for the fleet department allocated across different vehicle types.  So that becomes a periodic monthly charge.  So if a vehicle is assigned to a given department or a given entity on the first of the month, it basically pays the month’s fee for that vehicle.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So like any other company, they put a budget together, they figure out the number of vehicles, they tell you the number, they pick them up, they pay you for them, and that happens continuously over the course of the year without change.  And the flexible element is where you’ve got the vehicle hire rate.
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes.  Or if a division’s requested incremental vehicles or returned vehicles during the month, then they will see the change the following month.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So following up on that, it sounds like the affiliates have the ability to choose when to take the vehicles or not, and if they don't take them, you've got them and you're paying for them; is that correct?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Once again, the affiliates have in total probably, like, 10 vehicles in a 700-vehicle fleet, and they are not the more expensive, because the little minivan, Caravan, in Telecom are nothing compared to a bucket truck.  If they were to come and bring back all their minivans one day to THESL, yes, they would have that option, but it’s not something that’s contemplated.  They need their vans.  You might see in the business plan, there are likely to be more of those vans.  And the more they get, the more they could absorb some of the costs for all the mechanics and maintenance that are incurred into the distribution company. 

MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I'm going to move to another area now.  

You filed a document in the course of the hearing under Exhibit K3.6 and that's an agreement for licensed occupancy of underground ducts between THESL and Toronto Hydro Telecom.

I’m not going to ask you to turn up the document, I'm just going to talk about it in general.  At this point in time it appears that this document has a commencement date of January 1, 2005.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Was that the date that it was executed, or was it signed later than that?
     MR. COUILLARD:  It was signed later than that.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Was it signed after the Board's decision in the CCTA case which established pole rental rates?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, this document calls for a monthly lease rate associated with ducts, and I understand that that rate is based on a per-metre basis; is that correct?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  And the rate itself is something that has been redacted from this document.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Do you know whether the rate that is contained within this document is the same rate that was charged under whatever previous arrangements there were between THESL and Toronto Hydro Telecom?

MR. COUILLARD:  Well, it results in a lower cost in total as compared to the prior rates that were charged.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I believe Mr. O'Brien mentioned that -- well, let me --
     MR. COUILLARD:  I think it's in the evidence that we have –- we actually came forward and stated in our evidence that one of the reductions in the revenue offset was related to the revision of the duct rental charges.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, on day 2 of the hearing, at page 127 of the transcript - and I'm going to read this out, so there’s no need to turn this up - I asked Mr. O'Brien the following: 

“MR. DINGWALL:  I'm noticing that there appears to be some decline from 2002 to 2004, and then a slight increase in the 2005 value, and then a significant decline - almost cut in half - for 2006 estimations.  Can you give me a broad indication of kind of what's going on there?”

And the question was in respect of Exhibit 6.8, which showed the revenues going from Toronto Hydro Telecom to THESL.  Actually, it wasn't Mr. O'Brien, it was Mr. Haines. His response was: 

“MR. HAINES:  It started not with THTI, but one of our other large communication companies attached to utility infrastructure, and they took the recent decision of the Board with respect to the pole attachment fees and did some math determined that they were overpaying, in their view, for access to poles and ducts for their facilities, and so they started a negotiation with us.”

Now, that's what I think you just made reference to, Mr. Couillard.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  I'm just trying to sense the question you are asking me.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I haven't asked it yet.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Good.
     MR. DINGWALL:  But I appreciate the psychic effort.

Was the large communication company receiving duct rental service prior to the CCTA decision as well as pole rental?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  And were they paying the same rates that Toronto Hydro Telecom was paying?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  No. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Can you tell me why?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  Great question, and I think our telecom people were asking the same type of question.  They all thought the only way they could actually know, because obviously there is confidentiality between agreements, was I think they had discussions with this large provider that we have.  If you look at this provider and our telecom provider, the two of them together occupy approximately 90 to 95 percent of all the space in the duct -- that is actually included in the duct-rental revenue.  


Our affiliate has been actually arguing for years that they were paying higher than what they should be paying, and comparing -- and once again, comparing quotes that they were discussed with -- like, what Hamilton was paying, what Fibre Wire in Hamilton was paying to the City of Hamilton, and Ottawa, for example, how much they were paying for their telecom.  At that time, we didn't feel that we had any type of guidance to revise the rates, although we knew from a corporate perspective that the other large occupants of the ducts were paying significantly lower price at the time.


Now, we were approached, following the decision in the case on the pole, we were approached by this other occupant of our ducts and basically their rates -- their view was that the same type of logic should apply, and they implied they would go to the Board to seek the same type of decision in the case, in their case.  


So at that time we decided that instead of going and waiting for a Board decision, knowing full well that the decision would have likely been the same outcome, and trying to save some customer money by not going through some long hearing process on this, we revised the calculation that was done.  


We basically used the same methodology that was used with the poles and we came up with a per-metre fee.  And at that time, it was somewhere towards the end of 2005.  We've extended this offer and prepared a contract after negotiation with this occupant of ours.  We've also felt that we should extent the same to all the other customers, including our affiliates, and we've entered into contract negotiation with both parties.  


It is probably easier for us, considering our size to negotiate with our own internal parties.  I am the contract or the prices that were agreed on are the same for both parties.  Unfortunately, that information -- we don’t want to talk about the price.  It's following the same methodology used in the poles.  And by doing so, our telecom actually agreed on signing this agreement at the end of this fiscal year.  


We are in the final stretch of negotiation with this other occupant, which we should be signing this agreement in the next couple of weeks.  It just takes a bit longer when negotiating with larger -- it is a way larger corporation than we are, and I think their legal department is different. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I think since you've got negotiations understand way with another party and you've redacted the price portions of K3.6 that there's a confidential concern at this time with respect to the rate being charged?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Right. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  And the cost components associated with that?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Correct. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm going to reserve any further questions until the in-camera session on that on this point. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  That's fine.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm going to ask you to make reference to K6.2, which is the document I provided yesterday in advance of this. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Dingwall.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  I'm trying to find my other document, it appears to have vanished at the moment.  


Could you turn to the second page of this document, which is page 10?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Of the decision.  The decision in RP-2002-0249. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  There's a discussion of the impact that this decision might have on existing contracts. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  In this discussion, on the first page, in the first paragraph, the following statement was made:

“In the settlement agreement all parties, with one exception, agreed that any new rate set by the Board should not apply to existing contracts." 


Then it goes on further to discuss, in the third paragraph, under impact that: 

“The CCTA states that it would not object to a Board ruling that existing contracts without a retroactivity clause are immediately subject to the Board's decision regarding new licence conditions.  They claim, however, that few contracts do not have retroactivity provisions." 


Now, Toronto Hydro Telecom has a pole-rental agreement with THESL; correct?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  And that pole-rental agreement I believe had a rate of approximately $21.50 or somewhere about that.  Does that sound right?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Correct. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  And this decision established a pole-rental rate for the province at $22.35. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that subsequent to this decision, Toronto Hydro Telecom entered into a new pole-agreement; is that correct?

     MR. COUILLARD:  We've updated the price to $22.35.  We’ve increased the price for our affiliate. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I don't believe in the document that was produced in this hearing that price was updated.  Is that in another document?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  No, I don't think the document -- I don’t think the contract has finalized or singed, but we have updated the price at $22.35, and our filing reflects that.  It is our understanding we will do that. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I also read in the contract that was filed, and it escapes me at this point in time, but there was to be no retroactive adjustment in the event that the Board or the Supreme Court established a generic rate.  Do you recall that?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  You mean in our own contract?   

     MR. DINGWALL:  Your own contract, yes.  

     MR. COUILLARD:  Do you have the reference?

     MR. DINGWALL:  If I had the reference I would be pointing you on the document.  If you like, I could move the question to the other session and we can deal with it there.  I can get you the reference.  And if you don't recall, that's fair. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  I don't recall. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Looking at page -- the fourth page of this exhibit, which is numbered page 12 of the decision.  This is the format of a calculation that was made in order to establish a pole-rental price. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  It's formed of a combination of direct costs and indirect costs. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  And in the indirect costs, there are net imbedded costs per pole, depreciation expense, maintenance expense and capital carrying costs.  I take it that these metrics are metrics that should be fairly easy to figure out for utility ducts, would they not?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  And have you tracked those figures?   

     MR. COCHRANE:  Well, we came up with -- we applied this methodology actually to come up with the new standard duct-rental rate, yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  That, I take it, will take us to our confidential discussion later on in the day on that point.  So I won't get into that. 

     MR. COCHRANE:  Fine. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  That helps me.  I would now like you to turn up K3.9, which is the service-level agreement for water heater services between THESL and Energy Services.  

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  You're getting good at saying that.  Just one general observation that I have with respect to this, is that there's a billing arrangement covered in here between THESL and Energy Services for the hot water heater rentals. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, what did you say?  The billing -- 


MR. DINGWALL:  A billing arrangement. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Oh billing, sorry.  Yes, there is. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  And there's a monthly fee per activity that's associated with the billing, the collections and the bill processing.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I note there is no exclusivity clause with respect to the billing.  Would you agree with that?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, it would be, in my mind -- just a second.  Can you just clarify for me what you mean by “exclusivity”?
     MR. DINGWALL:  There's nothing that binds THESL to only bill on behalf of Energy Services.
     MR. COUILLARD:  You mean that Energy Services can go in and contract out billing somewhere else?
   MR. DINGWALL:  Or vice versa.  THESL could go to any other service provider that might want to bill through the utility bill and seek that service.
     MR. COUILLARD:  So, for example -– like, I'm just trying -- Direct Energy wanted us to bill for some of their stuff.  Is that what you’re implying, something like that?
     MR. DINGWALL:  Any other company.
     MR. COUILLARD:  I think there's no exclusivity, because I think if there was, it would be against the Affiliate Relationships Code.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I note also in this document there's an attachment which is an RFP, and my understanding of that is that the RFP sets the terms and conditions under which THESL -– pardon me, Energy Services would contract out for the hot water heater services.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm noticing that pages 16 and 17 of the RFP are missing.
     MR. COUILLARD:  We noticed that, too.  It's a 2001 document and we have not been able to track those.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Just to --
     MR. RODGER:  I could maybe assist here, Mr. Dingwall.  As we talked about earlier, we have been trying to search for those documents and I gather they have been found.  They’ve been faxed to my office.  We’re trying to get the printed off, and hopefully they should be here by the morning break.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Great.  I was simply going to ask for an undertaking so that the record is complete on that.
     MR. RODGER:  That’s fine.
     MR. MILLAR:  Would you like an undertaking, Mr. Dingwall?

MR. DINGWALL:  Please.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.1:  TO PROVIDE PAGES 16 AND 17 OF

ENERGY SERVICES RFP
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I'm looking at appendix B to the document, which is about 11 or 12 pages in.  There's a “B” at the bottom, and it's entitled “Description of Services and Transfer Prices.”       
     MR. COUILLARD:  What page, Mr. Dingwall?

MR. DINGWALL:  It’s appendix B to the first document.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that this is a schedule that identifies all the individual pricing components associated with the provision of services to Energy Services by THESL; is that correct?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, at the time of the agreement.  [Sneeze].  My apologies.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Bless you.  

You produced this as sort of the current agreement; is that the context of it?

MR. COUILLARD:  That's the current agreement.  These prices have been updated for, like, actual costs.  They are reviewed on annual basis to see if there is an incremental cost.  We have never actually gone back and changed the agreement itself.  But they have been updated, the price, to reflect incremental costs of operating THESL.  Because this is a 2001 agreement, I think it would be fair to say that a lot of the components in this have been increased over the years.
     MR. DINGWALL:  It suggests to me that at the time, what you were doing was tracking costs on a fairly detailed basis between Energy Services and THESL; is that correct?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  And that you had some basis for the creation of these allocations.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, that is correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Between affiliates, do you continue to track costs on this type of basis?

MR. COCHRANE:  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So there should be activity levels and invoices and things like that that show, department by department, charges, hours, things like that?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Well, in fact, as part of our evidence, our response to VECC interrogatory number 20, attachment 1, actually showed a complete listing for the water heater agreement, the actual cost to THESL and the recoveries achieved, and the variance between those two numbers was less than 5 percent.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm looking through this and I’m seeing a charge for facilities, “Facilities Asset Management,” and a rental rate -– pardon me, a transfer price of $15.73 per square foot.  Is that a rental rate for space?

MR. COCHRANE:  I agree that that's the description in the agreement, yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, do you know if it's a rental rate for space?

MR. COCHRANE:  I don't know exactly what the transfer price relates to.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Is that something that panel 3 would be more appropriate to address?

MR. COUILLARD:  I don't think so.  Probably not.  This is a very old agreement, so ...
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  If we go to schedule 20, attachment 1, which is the IR you just referred us to, which is section E, tab 2.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Dingwall, while we are turning that up, would this be a convenient time to take the morning break?

MR. DINGWALL:  Certainly.
     MR. KAISER:  We'll take 20 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 10:45 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:20 a.m. 

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  


Mr. Dingwall?   

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, there are a couple of preliminary matters first.  Maybe I'll start.  


As you are probably aware, Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Warren are also involved in the Hydro One proceeding.  I've spoken with Mr. Dingwall and Mr. Adams, I understand that they probably have between 45 minutes and an hour between them left of cross-examination on this panel.  Mr. Warren and Mr. Shepherd have asked we delay the start of the confidential portion until after the lunch break.  As I look at the clock, it looks like we would be just about to lunch break in any event.  So I assume that won't be a problem. 

     MR. KAISER:  That's fine.  

     MR. RODGER:  Sir, during the break, we have the response to undertaking J7.1, that was the missing page from the water heater services agreement. 

     MR. MILLAR:  That should be on your desk, Mr. Chair. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MR. DINGWALL:  If everyone is collected then I'll begin.  


When last we left off I was speaking with regard to VECC interrogatory 20, attachment 1.  In looking at that, there are two sets of figures.  The first set of figures is actual cost to THESL of the services provided to Energy Services, and then the second box of figures is the recovery of amounts from Energy Services to THESL.  And I had asked you to refer, in addition to that, to appendix B, which is to K3.9.  And I think you still have got that open, if everything is going smoothly.  


What I'm trying to gain an understanding of is how the services and transfer prices from appendix B, going back to 1999, track into the categories of costs recovered in 2004.  I'm seeing a couple of categories that may or may not be there, but I'm not seeing them; one is facilities.  


In the appendix B there are four separate charges, one for asset management, another for architectural and engineering services, another for operation and maintenance services, and another for records management.  In looking at VECC IR response 20, I'm not seeing anything that appears to correlate to that category of charges.  Can you help me with that?   

     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, and I think I'll take the opportunity to clarify a previous answer in terms of the level of detail for the tracking.  Clearly, the lion’s share of the costs relate to those items that start on page -- schedule B, the page that's numbered page 8, at the bottom, water heater services and related transfer prices.  In terms of the $70 per hour for dispatch customer contact and administrative services, and the customer call services.  Those represent the lion’s share of the costs.  


It is correct that the actual detail that's provided in the interrogatory response does not list all of the services that are on the first page of this appendix B, which is where you pointed out that the facilities are. I would add to that the proportion relating to these services is a very minor part of the overall cost providing the service, and given that there's actually an over-recovery of $155,000 in favour of THESL, we believe that approximates any incremental costs relating to those services. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, does Energy Services have an office?   

     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, but this agreement specifically deals with the water heater services.  There's a separate service-level agreement under which Energy Services has its own office space.  And that was one of the service agreements we provided under our response to VECC number 8. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  If you can point me to the specific VECC response, then that will help me turn up the document. 

     MR. COCHRANE:  Okay.  I believe that will be tab B of the interrogatories. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Right, and VECC 8, but do you know which attachment?   

     MR. COCHRANE:  Attachment 3, schedule 1. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Can you tell me if this agreement replaced the agreement that's at K3.9?   

     MR. COCHRANE:  No, it did not.  The agreement that's in attachment 3 of the response to VECC number 8 relates to the -- this schedule or facilities basically refers to Energy Services’ own office space, using real estate that is the property of THESL.  Whereas the agreement we've been discussing previously has simply been about the provision of water heater services from THESL's customer services division to the Energy Services company. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  In looking at appendix B to 3.9, I'm seeing one area of costs at the top which are under the title “information tech.”  And then I'm seeing, in looking at VECC 8, attachment 3, it has its own IT schedule as well.  

     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  So at some point did you move the IT services out of the water heater service agreement and into this straight agreement?

     MR. COCHRANE:  No, we did not. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Dingwall, what you see in the old agreement is the IT portion, for example, that was incurred by THESL in providing water heater services, not the IT portion of people in Energy Services having computers to do their work.  That's the nuance. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Then going back to VECC 20, attachment 1, I'm not seeing a line on the recovery item that relates to the IT charges that were identified in the original service agreement. 

     MR. COCHRANE:  And that's what I mentioned in my initial response, clarifying what I had said earlier in response to whether you were tracking in the same level of detail.  It appears that we only have the major cost components produced in this analysis, which results in an over-recovery of $151,000.  But now if I look at the proportion of facilities or IT services used solely for the provision of water heater services, we feel that it falls well within the recovery -- the over-recovery portion of the $150,000.  


In other words, if in the actual cost to THESL, on this schedule 20, attachment 1, if we had added in the use of facilities and IT and any other minor charges that result from those items mentioned in the agreement, they would fall within the $150,000 threshold. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, in looking at IT as an example, it looks like apart from user support, there's about, 1999 numbers, $16,000 a year per workstation associated with the hot water heaters.  

     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  It sounds to me like that was an attempt at that time to figure out what the overhead component associated with the employees being charged out to Energy Services would have been.  Would you agree with that?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, using the generic rate that was applied at the time.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Going to VECC 20, I'm seeing we've got fees for receiving and directing calls, fees for billing, collecting and payment processing, and those appear to be the aggregation of the unit fees for those particular services; is that correct?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So it seems to me like the original intention was to not just track the unit fees but to try and figure out what the costs for the various bodies performing functions would have been; the various costs, including receiving/directing calls, billing and collection, and payment.
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes.  Well, this analysis was done in order to validate the rates that were being charged to Energy Services for water heater services going back to the 2004 cost levels and the appropriate allocation of those costs to the activity of fulfilling THESL's obligations under this agreement.
     MR. DINGWALL:  In looking at the actual cost column on VECC 20, you've got administrative labour costs, three full-times plus three halftimes, and you've got allocation numbers there of 227,000 for the three full-time employees.  Is that an aggregation of their wages plus -- their total compensation, or have you included an overhead component to that?
     MR. COCHRANE:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the question?  I didn't catch the first part.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  The box that I'm referring to is actual cost to THESL from 2004 on VECC IR 20.  There's a line item there for administrative labour costs.  After that, in brackets, it indicates “3 FTE 100 percent devoted to WH.”
     MR. COCHRANE:  Right.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Next to that, in the first column, there's a number and that number is $227,000.
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Is that number an aggregate of the compensation, the total compensation for those three individuals?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, it is, based on an hourly labour rate.  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  And does that compensation, does that number include anything for the overhead associated with those individuals?
     MR. COUILLARD:  I think we just mentioned that we have not considered overhead in this analysis.  We've been pretty clear on that.  The overhead portion will be very small in comparison to the whole amount.  And when we did this analysis, we tried to compare the total cost incurred by THESL versus how much was recovered from THESI.  And we didn't go into the level of detail to reconcile all the small -- we used, like, the macro level, what are large elements, and came up with an over-recovery for THESL of $150,000.  And our position is that this over-recovery of $150,000 would largely cover some of these costs, for example, workstations or space for these ​four and a half employees.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, the four and a half employees that we've referred to here, those are the only direct allocation of bodies.  We've also got a number of bodies that will be involved in the call-handling and the billing process.  It sounds to me like your analysis is missing the overhead that would be associated with these bodies.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Once again, you know, when we look at the overall picture of the potential overhead for the water heater, which is a very small component -- I mean, it's 90,000 bills every month on all our customers because we have about 90,000 tanks.  And there is no way that if you were allocate overhead even for all the employees, excluding the employees that are on the road because that’s different, the ones that are going, actually doing the servicing, but the $150,000 we have there would significantly cover the potential overhead that would be there.
     MR. DINGWALL:  In setting the billing rates between THESL and Energy Services, did you take a look at any of the other benchmarks in the energy industry for what it costs to bill and collect for a third party?
     MR. COUILLARD:  In setting up the rate, no.  What I do know, though, is that prior to launching our natural gas offering in the Energy Services business, which we just did, we also looked at outsourcing completely and not using THESL as a provider.  And what we found from some of the discussion we had with potential parties willing to do these bills is it would have been –- at first, our Energy Services business probably would have significant savings and it came back to about the same price as what it would have cost.  So if that's the cost for billing gas, I presume it's about the same for electricity.  So that's kind of how we -- we feel fairly good now.  Now, at the time of setting the agreement, it was based on our own cost.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So having been the CFO of Energy Services in the past, Mr. Couillard, you’re aware that the ABC billing rates for third party access to the bill for commodity on the gas side are around a buck and a quarter per bill.
     MR. COUILLARD:  I don't remember these numbers, to be honest with you.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I take it that as part of the services provided to Energy Services, Toronto Hydro or THESL, I'll try to be consistent, also does the procurement of the water heaters for Energy Services; is that correct?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, that is correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Can you tell me when the recoveries from Energy Services take place?  Is it monthly or annually?
     MR. COUILLARD:  There's a settlement on a monthly basis.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Based on that month’s activity?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Given that we're coming back later on in the confidential panel, I'm going to move to another area.

This morning I had some difficulty finding K3.7, which has now materialized.  That's the agreement for licensed occupancy of THESL between THESL and Telecom for poles.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  And I'm going to ask you to turn to page 17 of that.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Paragraph 11.02, which begins on the previous page, the second -- which then becomes the second paragraph down on page 17, I read this clause to mean that, if a regulator sets a new fee for the rental rate for pole attachment, that there's no true-up --
     MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  -- for the previous period.  Would you agree with that interpretation of this?
     MR. COUILLARD:  That's my interpretation of the decision of the Board, yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm referring to your agreement.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Oh, sorry.  Yes, that's what it says.
     MR. DINGWALL:  When the rates changed subsequent to the Board's decision, did you true-up with any of the companies that are attached to your lines?
     MR. COUILLARD:  I don't know.  I would suspect no.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Now, remember, the change here was to the benefit of -– like, our Telecom company ended up paying more than they were going to pay initially when we changed the rates.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Right.  Your pre-existing rate was lower than the one the Board set.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Lower.  Correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So if there had been a true-up, you would have been paying more.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, we did for our -- our Telecom company did start to pay more.
     MR. DINGWALL:  It started to pay more.

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. DINGWALL:  Right.  But because of this clause, you

didn't have to true-up for what was there in the past?

MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, in going back to K6.2 -- actually I'll leave that point.  


Given where we're going in the afternoon, those are my questions for this panel on the non-confidential matters.  Thank you.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  


Mr. Adams?   


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ADAMS:

     MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Panel, my name is Tom Adams and I'm here representing the Energy Probe Research Foundation.  I will try and keep my questions brief.  They are mostly by way of follow up questions to the previous panel.


The areas that I want to address are primarily in the area of labour cost, but there is one follow up question that I would like to get your input on in the area of rates.  


In the discussion I had with Mr. O'Brien, I was drawing attention to the impact of amalgamation on the rates for customers in different regions that became amalgamated, observing that while some customers had relatively modest impacts, the before and after picture for some customers, particularly in the City of York and something similar in the area of Scarborough, some very significant increases.  And I was asking Mr. O'Brien if we was -- recognizing the fact he was not in the chair that he's in now during much of this amalgamation period, but if he was aware of any customer reaction that arose when rates for customers, for example, in the City of York, more than doubled.  He wasn't aware of any instances, but I would be interested to know if any of the panellists were familiar with any customer reaction that might have arisen when rates doubled.  

     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'll take that on behalf of the panel.  I think I'm the only one who was around at that particular time.  But even in my role, I don't deal with customers on a daily basis.  The only customers I tend to deal with are usually where they have escalated concerns and I get into the more detailed aspects of the rate-setting process.  But with that caveat, I really did not hear any complaints from customers myself.

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  


Now, there are several questions in the area have labour cost.  Again, in my discussion with Mr. O'Brien we were discussing efficiency impacts on utility operations related to amalgamation, and I want to look at some of the labour impacts of that amalgamation.  Now, do I understand correctly that, prior to amalgamation, the constituent utilities that now comprise Toronto Hydro had labour agreements for, I don't know, what you might call blue-collar labour services, not professional services, but unionized labour, with IBEW, CUPE local 1, I believe another CUPE local, I believe the Scarborough utility had a non-affiliated union, and there may have also been a PWU shop in the constituent members that came into Toronto Hydro.  Is that fair?   The only one I'm uncertain about is the PWU. 

     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I’m just trying to recollect now.  I don't believe there was a PWU shop.  There were a couple of IDWs, a number of CUPE shops, that’s all just from recall.  That’s all I know.

     MR. ADAMS:  Would you agree with me that the labour agreements established a variety of labour rates for positions of similar qualifications amongst those constituent utilities?  So when they came in, there were labour costs at different levels for the same positions. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  I think, yes, it's possible.  I mean, once again, I wasn't there and I’ve never participated in any of the comparisons.  But I would be surprised if all the different utilities were paying the same rates for all the same jobs.

     MR. ADAMS:  Would you have any information that       would disprove the statement that when the labour agreements were amalgamated and all of the unionized labour fell under CUPE local 1, that as a general matter the compensation levels rose to the highest level of the constituent components that came into Toronto Hydro?


MR. COUILLARD:  I wasn’t part of these -- at the time.  I really don’t know if that’s what happened, so I really can’t answer that question. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Do you have any information about the per-unit labour costs rates for unionized rates at the point of amalgamation and what we are looking at now?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  No, I don't.

     MR. ADAMS:  I got into another discussion with Mr. O'Brien on the subject of comparative labour costs for Toronto Hydro, and I was asking him if he - leaving aside Hydro One and Hydro One Brampton - if he was aware of another urban LDC with higher per-unit labour costs than Toronto Hydro, and he responded that he wasn't aware of any.  Are any of the panellists aware of whether there is another urban LDC, with the exception of Hydro One Brampton, that has higher labour costs per unit than Toronto Hydro?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  We have not done an extensive analysis, and I'm not sure if the other urban Ontario should be where we compare.  I think Toronto in itself is way larger than any of the other urban utilities, and we have also had some discussion in the proceeding earlier that obviously there is some difference in working in Toronto.  And any study would say that there is obviously a premium for salaries paid for Toronto and also the system in Toronto is quite different than any of the other urban utilities.  


So there could be and could be jobs -- depending on the job, Mr. Adams.  So for example, a lineman might be higher in Toronto, but maybe a customer service rep might be lower.  It would vary depending on the job, and there is no study that has been undertaken to do that.

     MR. ADAMS:  Have you compared your labour rates against or Toronto utilities, like for example Enbridge for positions of similar qualification?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, it's tough -- when we -- actually, I was part of the last labour negotiation committee, and we got bits and pieces sometimes of like areas, and it's our major problem.  Because you get, like, for example, when you are at the negotiating table, you have the union that tries to compare itself to some other jobs, and obviously management might have a different opinion on what this job encompasses.  And it is very difficult to -- unless you really know what the level of responsibility is -- some jobs at Enbridge seem to be paying way higher than Toronto, and the union would, rightly so, make their case and say, well, we should be paid the same rate.  Unfortunately, unless you really what the responsibilities are, it's very difficult to undertake that.

     MR. ADAMS:  Mr. O'Brien was pointing out that you have recently concluded agreement with CUPE local 1.  So I understand that it is not for sometime until the next renewal of that agreement will be called for.  I think 2008 is the -- 

     MR. COUILLARD:  A new agreement will come into effect on February 1st, and it’s a three-year agreement.  February 1st, 2006.

    MR. ADAMS:  I'm wondering if now is a good time to start doing homework in terms of benchmarking so that this work can be gone through.  This is a technical question, developing a serious benchmark for labour costs.  Would it be practical to start doing homework in preparation for the next labour renegotiation?

MR. COUILLARD:  Well, we started doing some of this analysis, especially for -- management staff to Mercer is actually working on providing us some analysis and benchmarking, and we looked at benchmarking, especially at the management level.  We’re not only benchmarking other -- against our utilities.  I think it would be fair to benchmark against some different components of the market and some other comparable positions.  

And I think it is certainly something that we could start to entertain, at the union level, looking at what are the right rates for these people.  And, as I mentioned earlier, it will be -- it's a fairly complex study because it has to consider the complexity of the Toronto system.  You mentioned when you talked to panel 1 on the second day, that Toronto has to be -- Toronto is different in itself because of the way the system was built.  And I think it’s something that we'll have to reflect in this analysis, but it's certainly possible.
     MR. ADAMS:  That's very helpful.  Where I'm going with all this -- I mean, I appreciate you’ve got your labour agreements and the cost consequences of those labour agreements flow into 2006 rates.  And this Board doesn't have the -- we're not in a position to really attack those directly.  But in terms of long-term trend, we look across the hall, over in Hydro One, and they have got very high labour costs by comparison with other utilities in Ontario.  They’re a rural utility.  You are an urban utility.  You have very high rates by comparison in terms of what's been presented here.  

Looking for solutions, places we can go, one that occurred to us is, Hydro One has to try and improve its flexibility of deployment of labour and improve its labour productivity.  They have been working with a hiring hall concept.  They are convinced this is a constructive direction for them.  Is that something that Toronto Hydro has studied as an option?

MR. COUILLARD:  Well, I think there are different ways to be efficient in this area.  I mean, Hydro One -- if Hydro One seems to think a hiring hall is -– you know, what will help them, that's their decision.  I think there's different components and the type of work will change.  I'm not sure that a tradesperson that works on your system on a daily basis, if you go and pick them up out of a hiring hall on a Monday morning might not be the most efficient way.  

On the other hand, what we've seen towards the last -- especially the last round of negotiation with our union is that there seems to be way more collaboration.  This increased significantly and seems to be -- you know, you can think about labour negotiations sometimes as a very antagonistic type of process, and there's a tremendous amount of effort that was done this year not only to negotiate on monetary items but also on operating items, to make sure we can run our operations more effectively.  

So when you look at the type of rate or the type of settlement you have with the union, you also have to look at what allows you, in the collective agreement, to be more productive and to be able to shift work around and being more adaptable to the type of work.  These are all things that are certainly in our agenda to talk to our union, and our union has acknowledged that.  There’s certainly a need to talk about those issues, and we really see -- this is more a partnership than, like, the two parties, type of thing, with the union on one side and management on the other side.
     MR. ADAMS:  That's an interesting comment.  I’m aware that PWU has entered into similar types of discussions with some of their employers, particularly OPG, in terms of trying to improve productivity as a measure, per-unit productivity.  And one of the measures that they have pursued with the employer in that instance is multi-skilling.  They believe this is an approach that represents an efficient –- a productivity potential for them.  Is that something that you’re addressing as well?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  Productivity is always -– it’s a hot topic, obviously, when you discuss with the union.  Some of the things that we're looking at is, you know, how are we going to -- as I mentioned earlier in this proceeding, the average age of our work force is 47 years old and it is not getting younger, obviously.  And as we replenish some of these trades, I think it's part of our intent to sit down with the union and try to make sure that the way we're putting -– when we’re hiring people, we get ourselves in a position that we can get productivity, a bit more productivity, depending on how we can shift the work from the people.  

I think, as I mentioned earlier, there’s a great sense of collaboration that is developing between management and the union, on our side, and we’re hoping to be able to keep banking on this in the near future and address some of those issues on productivity.  

Certainly, when we look at wage and doing a wage analysis, well, if it takes you 100 people to do the job and you're at the low trade wage, well, would you rather take only 50 people to do the job and be willing to pay a bit more?  That’s something that needs to be addressed.
     MR. ADAMS:  Absolutely.  I'm not disagreeing at all.  So I've gone through a couple here in terms of benchmarking, hiring hall, multi-skilling.  What are the stones that are unturned here?  I mean, where can we go to improve this situation?   Your labour costs do appear to be high.  Is there something this Board can do to contribute to bring these wage rates in line?  From an overall cost perspective, not picking on particularly the wage rates, but just in terms of overall costs.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Adams, I think we should not lose sight here that we're in front of the Board here requesting a rate decrease, and the major reason for this rate decrease is, we’ve been able do achieve a high level of service and definitely a high quality of work, high customer service, with less people.  And I think it is our view that we are continuing to pursue in the same direction.  And, as I mentioned earlier, we are -- a lot of people will retire in the near future and we are going to continue to manage in a way to make sure that, you know, the hiring that we're going to do with be done according to the needs that we have.
     MR. ADAMS:  Another area I developed just at a preliminary stage with Mr. O'Brien, and he directed me to other panels, with your labour agreements, you have for outdoor staff a maximum and a minimum temperature of outdoor work -- I phrased that very badly.  Let me try again.  

Your labour agreements establish constraints on the ability of the utility to dispatch crews for outdoor work at maximum and minimum temperatures, and I want to understand how those work.
    First of all, do you know what the maximum and the minimum temperatures are?
     MR. COUILLARD:  There's no such thing in our collective agreement as minimum and maximum temperatures.  The first thing to be cognizant of here is that we are an essential service, so if we need to be out there, we’re going to be out there.  Obviously, we always look at the safety of our employees.  But we're an essential service, so rain or shine, high temperature or not, unless it jeopardizes the safety of our employees, we will be out there performing the work.  

Obviously, during the course of a year, there are days that, you know, we can't send a crew out there to do the normal work.  If there was an emergency, you might act differently.  But if it's pouring rain, for example, you might not see somebody on the bucket truck, or if the weather is very cold, there might be some things that we shift around.  

However, one of the big areas that we are putting a lot of emphasis on is training, and what we have is a training program that is developed -– like, last year there were probably four days where we couldn't really send a crew out there for the normal type of work.  As I mentioned earlier, if it’s an emergency and it doesn’t jeopardize safety, we’ll be there.  Well, these four days are used for training, or they could also be used for setting up your crews for the following day or preparing jobs.  

But people are not going to be sitting and playing cards at our workstation there.  There's really a -– we’re pretty quick at saying, Well, if today we can't send people out, then the people will go in to do this training.  And we usually have, on average, probably four to five days a year when it's the case.  So our training program is done in order to meet that.
     MR. ADAMS:  Do I understand that it's for construction-related work, where these weather constraints typically apply?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah, I think the people in the call centre would really care if it's 35 degrees outside.

     MR. ADAMS:  But emergency operations are not covered, I appreciate, under these constraints.  But with regard to construction operations, my understanding was that you had maximum and minimum temperatures. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  No, there is no such thing in our agreement.  However, there are, I think, measures or matrix by the government.  I'm not sure which government bodies regulate that, but I presume it may be Health Canada or the Ministry of Health, that we would be following.

     MR. ADAMS:  Can I turn you to page 139, Volume 2. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  I don't have the transcript.  Yes, Mr. Adams.

     MR. ADAMS:  At line 16 I asked Mr. O'Brien: 

“At one time Toronto Hydro labour agreements had contract provisions whereby line crews that were doing construction work were relieved of their duties if the summer temperatures exceeded, and I have forgotten what the figure was, I believe it was 31 degrees.” 


And Mr. O'Brien replied:

“Yes, we have both -- we have that both in heat and cold.”  

     MR. COUILLARD:  I think what Mr. O'Brien was referring to is the guidance from the Health -- like, the government.  I can confirm there is no such thing in our collective agreement.

     MR. ADAMS:  All right.  So am I to understand that the weather-related constraints that you faced with regard to line crew construction are no different than any other utility in Ontario?

     MR. COUILLARD:  I don't know what's in other utilities agreements, so they might have some of these provisions in their agreements.  What I can attest to is we do not have anything in our collective agreement that says over or under a certain degree or temperature; the guidance is safety.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  


Now, one final area, can I ask you to turn to Exhibit E, tab 3, Energy Probe interrogatory 17. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MR. ADAMS:  Part D asked the utility to identify job functions at THESL at the vice president -- at the level of vice president and above that are performed by employees of Toronto Hydro Corporation.  The reply was: 

“Employees have Toronto Hydro Corporation do not perform job functions at THESL at the level of vice president and above." 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, and we've corrected -- we clarified that statement earlier in the proceeding, Mr. Adams.  

       I think none of the -- for example, in 10, when we answered it was probably narrow, too narrow.  For example, there is no vice president finance in THESL, so it's all -- nobody is getting paid directly by THESL, it is all allocated through shared services on the executive side.  

     MR. ADAMS:  All of you as witnesses are employees of Toronto Hydro Corporation; right?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  All four of us, yes.

     MR. ADAMS:  So there's no witness appearing on behalf of the utility in this proceeding that's an employee of THESL? 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Oh, there are. Panel 3 has some employees of THESL, and I’m an officer of THESL as well, although I'm not being compensated by THESL.

     MR. ADAMS:  Directly.  


Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

     MR. KAISER:  Any other counsel that have questions for this panel?   Mr. Millar, do you anything more?

     MR. MILLAR:   No, but I believe Mr. Rodger has some. 

     MR. KAISER:  Before you do, I have a couple of questions.  


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. KAISER:  I want to clarify, Mr. Couillard, going back to this dividend policy that's in section 7.4 of the shareholder direction, which I think is J3.9.  Actually, I have a document I prepared.  


I want you to check some of the numbers for me.  All of this information is compiled from material that's in evidence. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Would you like an exhibit number for that, Mr. Chair? 

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, thank you. 

     MR. MILLAR:   K7.1.  There's nothing confidential?   

     MR. KAISER:  No, I may have misspoken.  I think I made reference to some audited financial statements that are a matter of the public record.  I don't know whether they are all in this record.  I know that one of your annual reports is but ... 

     MR. MILLAR:   K7.1. 

EXHIBIT NO. K7.1:  SUMMARY OF THESL CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND AMORTIZATIONS

     MR. KAISER:  The dividend policy that's described in section 7.4, this is 50 percent of the larger of 25 million or 50 percent of consolidated net income, came into effect to apply to fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005?

     MR. COUILLARD:  It was applied on the net income of 2004.  So the true-up that was paid in 2005 was based on the 50 percent net income of 2004. 

     MR. KAISER:  Well, the formula that's set out in the document, this is at page 16, sets out the schedule for paying dividends in 2004, and this is applying the dividend should equal 50 percent of fiscal 2004 net income. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  Consolidated net income. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Correct. 

     MR. KAISER:  Then we go to 2005, and of course it's the same principal.  Now, just stopping there, if I were to put a bottom line on this, in 2003 you paid out $5 million in dividends, if I recall the evidence. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Correct. 

     MR. KAISER:  In 2004, as I recall, it was $49 million. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct. 

     MR. KAISER:  And in 2005, it was 68. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct. 

     MR. KAISER:  So we had this document, and you will recall you agreed that it was 68 and you broke it down, this is the City of Toronto document that was K3.6.  


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  You don't need to go to it.  There was a $38 million dividend, then there was a special dividend of 30, for a total of 68. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  So if the formula was 50 percent of consolidated net income, if I multiply 68 times 2, do I get the consolidated net income for 2005?

     MR. COUILLARD:  No, because there are some extra dividend that were paid. 

     MR. KAISER:  That's what you told me the other day, and I went back and looked at transcript and looked at this, I don't understand how it complies with the formula then. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Would it be helpful if I tried to walk you through?   

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, it would be very helpful.   

     MR. COUILLARD:  If you look at the City document, which I have in front of me, this number was based -- the $38 million that the City was showing was based on our budget for 2005.  So that's basically what they thought they would receive from us.  


Now, the total amount of net income for 2004 amounted to providing them a dividend of $48 million instead of 38, so an extra $10 million. 

     MR. KAISER:  Let me stop there you.  I thought we were talking about 2005 dividends. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, but a lot of the 2005 divided is based on the true-up of the 2004 dividend. 

     MR. KAISER:  I'm just looking at the formula.  The dividend in 2005 is supposed to be 50 percent of the consolidated net income. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  From 2004.  Because if you pay a dividend in 2005 --

     MR. KAISER:  So are you saying the 2004 dividend was 50 percent of consolidated income in the prior year?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Correct. 

     MR. KAISER:  Oh, I misunderstood.  I thought it was based upon -– because, when you read it, they have a payment schedule 6 million -– for instance, in ’05, 6 million for each quarter for the first three quarters and then the balance, which you would have felt would be 50 percent of the consolidated net income in that year.  But you’re saying that's not how to read this document.
     MR. COUILLARD:  It’s from the year before.  So, basically, every year you are paying $25 million up front.  So if you look at the year we have right now, like, we're in 2005, during 2005 we paid the city $25 million --
     MR. KAISER:  No, I understand.  You pay the 25 because that's the minimum, regardless, and the top-up, if you will, is 50 percent of the consolidated net income of the prior year.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  That’s not how I read the formula, but that's how you interpret it.

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MR. SARDANA:  And the reason for that, Mr. Chair, is because our consolidated statements aren't issued up to two or three months into the next year, so we don't know our total net income of the prior year from an audited perspective.
     MR. KAISER:  Okay.  When I saw the -– again, I’m looking at the formula, it said the balance was paid within 10 days of the annual audited financial statements.  So I thought, Okay, they are going to get their annual audited statements for ’05 on “X” date, whenever that is, March 31st, and within 10 days they have to pay the balance of the dividend.  But reading that, it would be 50 percent of the consolidated income in ’05.  That's not the way it works.

See, if you read the -- look at the document.  If you read paragraph Roman numeral (vi): 

“The balance of the annual dividend, if required, at the time of approval of the Corporation’s Board of Directors of its annual audited financial
statements, payable within 10 days.” 

So I assume that was payable within 10 days of receipt of the ’05 audited financial statements, but you're saying it's within 10 days of the ’04 audited financial statements.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, because it was paid in ’05.  So we paid -- the amount.
     MR. KAISER:  That doesn't make any sense.  We've got ’05 here, and they want a dividend of 6 million every quarter for the first three quarters, right, to lead up to the 25 minimum.  And then there's a balance due; right?  And then it says, “Pay the balance within 10 days of the audited financial statements.”  Surely that's referring to the ’05 statements.  You already had the ’04 statements by the end of the third quarter of ’05.
     MR. COUILLARD:  If we look at the schedule here which talks about the -- in 2005, so this document --
     MR. KAISER:  Forget about the City of Toronto document for a moment.  I don’t care how they calculate it.  I want to know how you interpret the shareholder direction.
     MR. COUILLARD:  The way we’re interpreting it is that we’re paying $25 million during the year, okay, in any given --
     MR. KAISER:  Well, you’re paying 24 million in the first three quarters, is what you’re doing.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, 25 --
     MR. KAISER:  Yes, 25, rather, in the first three quarters.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Four quarters.
     MR. SARDANA:  There’s 7 million at the end of December as well.
     MR. KAISER:  It says, “On the last day of the first three fiscal quarters.”  Oh, and then you are paying, sorry, another 7 million on the fourth –- okay.  So you’re making quarterly payments throughout the year.  This is throughout ’05; right?  So by the end of ’05, December 31st, that's your fiscal year-end, you've paid 25 million.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.
     MR. KAISER:  And then it says and within receipt -– 10 days of receipt of the audited financial statements, pay us the balance.  Surely they are referring to the ’05 financial statements.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Absolutely, Mr. Chair.  So what we paid the city in 2005, okay, we paid the city $25 million in relation to 2005, but we've also paid them an amount related to 2004 which was the true-up of the prior year.
     MR. KAISER:  That’s the 30.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah.  That’s the --
     MR. KAISER:  What's the true-up amount?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, the true-up is -- for example, all along in 2005 we paid the 25 million.  

MR. KAISER:  Right.

MR. COUILLARD:  Let's say we finish the year and we made a consolidated net income of $90 million, which means 50 percent of that is 45 million.  

MR. KAISER:  Right.

MR. COUILLARD:  We've already paid 25.  So 45 minus 25 is 20.  Then in 2006 we will pay them -- the following year, we will pay them 20.
     MR. KAISER:  But you wouldn't record that as a 2006 dividend, or do you?
     MR. COUILLARD:  It would be 2006 dividend.
     MR. KAISER:  Anyway, I'm concerned with how you calculate it.  Forget about when you pay it.  That doesn’t matter.

’05, the formula says, at the end of each quarter, I get either 6 million or 7 million, the total of which is 25 million.  Then, within 10 days of receipt of the audited financial statements - I'm the city in this case - I get the balance.  

MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.

MR. KAISER:  50 percent of the consolidated income based on ’05 financial statements.
     MR. COUILLARD:  You will get that in ’06, yes.
     MR. KAISER:  Okay.  So when I used my exercise of multiplying 68 times 2, you said that's not right.  I had asked you if the 68 was the amount of dividends paid in ’05 and you said yes, but what you are saying is some of those related to an ’04 payout.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, Mr. Chair, for the --
     MR. KAISER:  Well, what was the consolidated income in ’05?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, we haven't released our ’05 numbers.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  That's an afternoon number. 

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  So when we get to that, when we get to that number and we multiply 50 percent times it, am I going to get -- I'm not going to get the number that's on this city sheet, I’m not going to get 68 million.
     MR. COUILLARD:  No, you won’t, and I’ll tell you why.
     MR. KAISER:  And that’s because -– okay, tell me why.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.  If we look at the net income here, the city, in early 2005, came to us and asked us for a special dividend in relation to our unregulated business.  Now, that related to --
     MR. KAISER:  Stop there.  Did that comply -- when you calculated that, did that comply with the shareholder direction formula?
     MR. COUILLARD:  No, it has nothing to do with the shareholders.  It’s on top of what’s in the --
     MR. KAISER:  That's what I thought, so here's my question:  What’s the point of a shareholders direction and dividend policy if the city can come to you and say, By the way, we’d like an extra 30 million?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, it’s the Board’s view to decide if we are in a position to pay more or less.  It’s the 

same --
     MR. KAISER:  But that's not how I read this, Mr. Couillard.  This says a maximum of these amounts.  This puts a limit on the dividend payout, I thought.
     MR. COUILLARD:  The Board always has the luxury, if they feel that they’re still meeting their fiduciary responsibility, they have the luxury to increase this dividend if they feel the company can afford to do so.
     MR. KAISER:  But it doesn't say that.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, it’s the normal -- Mr. Chair --
     MR. KAISER:  What's the point of this, if they can do whatever they want, if the board of directors can say, Well, here’s what it says and here's what we told the Energy Board and the bondholders and everyone else, but, guess what, we are adding on another 30, we're doubling the dividend.
     MR. COUILLARD:  For the same way that they could reduce the dividend, if they wanted to, Mr. Chair.
     MR. KAISER:  Well, this is a maximum.
     MR. COUILLARD:  It does not – 

MR. KAISER:  Or maybe it's not a maximum.
     MR. COUILLARD:  It doesn't state that this is a maximum, Mr. Chair.
     MR. KAISER:  It's a minimum.
     MR. SARDANA:  I think, Mr. Chair, this is the shareholders’ stated direction to us.  But, you know, Mr. Couillard is right.  If our board of directors feels that some of the unregulated businesses are earning a return that should be passed on to the shareholder, then it is within their purview to do that.
     MR. KAISER:  But here's my problem with that.  I heard that argument.  When you changed your policy in ’04 from 40 percent of regulated, in which case I would fully understand that argument, to, Guess what, it's going to be 50 percent of consolidated so, therefore, the policy direction is, Don't tell me where you earned it; pay out 50 percent of consolidated in ’04 and ’05, and you didn't do that.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Chair, at the time that we were discussing with the city on amending the shareholders’ direction, it was prior to us exercising the significant wholesale option on the Energy Services business.  And when we had our discussion with the board whether to exercise or not exercise - because there was some risk to it, especially credit risk - it was made fairly clear, we had a discussion with the city that if we wanted to go that route, to exercise this option, that we should -– you know, that the benefit should be passed through to the city at that time when we were realized some of these gains.  

So, really, this extra $20 million that was given as an extra dividend that the Board decided to give the city under a management recommendation was related to this wholesale option that we had exercised.  And at the time, because it was a one-time gain for the Energy Services business, we didn't want to go back and re-amend the shareholder direction to increase the amount that could be given just for this particular area.  And that's why the Board decided to declare a special dividend.
     MR. KAISER:  Was it 20 or 30?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, the special dividend actually was $20 million, and the reason -- I know --
     MR. KAISER:  Why do they say it's 30?
     MR. COUILLARD:  I hate to add some complexity, but it's because the way -- the city received $20 million more.  The reason why -- it all adds up to 68.  The reason is, the difference between is 30 and 20 is 10 million and our net income, consolidated, for that particular year came in $10 million higher than what the city was expecting.  So the real number there should be 48 and 20.  And if you were to take the 48 and multiply it by 2, you will add up to the 2004 net income.
     MR. KAISER:  I don't get that.  Either they exceeded the formula in ’05 or they didn't.  We're talking about ’05 revenues; right?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, but -- no, ’05 dividend is related to -– what was paid in ’05, the true-up is directly related to ’04 net income.
     MR. KAISER:  Here's my question:  In ’05, when you calculated the 38, right -- was there a dividend paid in the amount of 38 million?
     MR. COUILLARD:  No, and that was calculated in ’04, Mr. Chair.  The problem with the city is they have a different -- they work on a cash calendar.  So the way they have calculated their 38 is they said, Okay, we're going to receive 25 million on our normal scheduled dividend, which we've seen in the dividend policy.  Now, the difference between the two is $13 million.  


The City -- basically, in the City's view, our net income for -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Excuse me, the difference between what two?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  Between the 38 -- the City got 25 during the year, so I'm just trying to reconcile to you how they get to their 38.  They know they are going to receive 25, based on the minimum schedule that’s in the -- 

     MR. KAISER:  What do your financials show as the dividends paid with respect to the 2005 fiscal year?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  48 -- 48 -- well, it's 60. 

     MR. KAISER:  I mean are they in the audited statements we’ll get this afternoon?  Presumably it's there. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah. 

     MR. KAISER:  In your audited financial statements, it would show the dividends paid with respect to that fiscal year. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  It's not included in there, because we don't have audited statements at this point.  So the only thing that would be in there is total dividend paid.  We do have a line in our cash flow statement that shows dividends paid.  It won't tell you if it's a one-time or not a one-time. 

     MR. KAISER:  What's the number?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  I think it is $68 million. 

     MR. KAISER:  It is 68.  So that's what you looked that. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah. 

     MR. KAISER:  You're the chief financial officer.  You send this to your auditors, it's going to show that you paid out $68 million in dividends for the ’05 fiscal year. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  And now what you are telling me is that does not comply with the formula that's in 7.4 of the shareholder direction. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  It is $20 million higher. 

     MR. KAISER:  It's $20 million higher because, notwithstanding the shareholder direction, the board of directors can at any time decide to increase or decrease the amount. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  They could.


MR. KAISER:  And they did in this case.


MR. COUILLARD:  And they did because of the wholesale transaction that was undertook in 2004. 

     MR. KAISER:  And that requires some kind of special resolution of the board, I assume. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Absolutely. 

     MR. KAISER:  Now, you guys – and when I say you guys - the management doesn't sit on this board; right?  As I understand it is all City appointees. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  There are 11 members on our Board, three city counsellors and all the rest are independent. 

     MR. KAISER:  All appointed by the City. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  No members of management are members of the board, as I recall reading. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  No, but we do participate in board meetings. 

     MR. KAISER:  No, but you don't vote.  


MR. COUILLARD:  No.


MR. KAISER:  You’re not a member of this board; Mr. O'Brien is not a member of this board. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  No, he is not. 

     MR. KAISER:  Then you guys say, you know, this is all well and good but this doesn't comply with the shareholder direction.  Did that get raised with your board?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  I can't speak for the board, but when we --

     MR. KAISER:  You were there, weren't you?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry?

     MR. KAISER:  Don't you sit in on these meetings? 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  Was there a discussion with the board of directors that the extra dividend would not comply with the shareholder direction?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Oh, definitely.  There was a discussion on the reason why we would pay the extra dividend.  And it all erupted from prior -- as I mentioned, about a year-and-a-half earlier when we exercised this wholesale option, knowing full well that all the benefits, as they were going to be realized, were going to be  transferred to the City. 

     MR. KAISER:  Now, talking about this benefit, and I will do this in general terms, I don't want to take an undue amount of time, but there was some discussion by one of the counsel about this DBRA document.  That throughout DBRA, it waxes on that this in unregulated business creates high risk. 


For instance, at page 5.  I think this may be the Standard & Poors one.  It says: 

“The company's high-risk unregulated electricity retailing exposes a price, volume and credit risk.” 


And then there was an earlier statement that was also referred to earlier.  And this is at page 3 of 10: 

“Toronto Hydro's unregulated retailing activities continue to be negative for the ratings until the company completely withdraws from this activity." 

     As I read that, particularly that last statement, “is negative for the ratings,” these unregulated businesses, though they ultimately turn out to be handsomely profitable as we have now learned, and the source of a special dividend, did impose negative rating risk and presumably costs on the utility.  Would you agree with that?

     MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Chair, not on the utility, not costs on the utility.  Did they drag down the overall corporate credit rating?  I think that's clear, yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  And that's a fair answer.  And I would have thought that when they dragged down -– I understand you are doing the borrowing through the senior company, through the parent company, but doesn't that have implications for the utility?

     MR. SARDANA:  I think, to be fair, that is one factor in that if the utility were a stand-alone entity could it get a better borrowing rate, absent all these other activities?  I think it's arguable.  I mean, is this the case where the whole is better than the sum of the parts, sort of thing. 

     MR. KAISER:  Let me ask the question differently.  The borrowing rate of the parent company, because that is who you are borrowing through, must have implications for the utility.  That, in effect, affects its cost of capital because it, in effect, has to absorb that. 

     MR. SARDANA:  Right.  But I think it is also important to keep in perspective that when we went out to do our $225 million debenture issue, if you go through the prospectus of that issue, the utility and Toronto Hydro Corporation are ring-fenced, so all of the other subsidiaries are out of the picture.  And that was a very, very deliberate covenant that bondholders wanted.  Because they recognized exactly what you are eluding to, that it is really THESL that provides the operations of this company.  And through covenants, we have ring-fenced THESL and Toronto Hydro Corporation, and all the other subsidiaries are out of that. 

     MR. KAISER:  But when the people that rate these bonds say that this company is high risk, that its unregulated electricity business exposes it to risk and negatively affects its rating, it is negative for the rating.  The rating does affect the cost of borrowing; doesn't it?

     MR. SARDANA:   Yes it does.  I think what we should also put in perspective, what the rating agencies typically do is they have a rating scale.  And they say fine, Toronto Hydro Corporation - let's say from 1 to 10, in fact it is for one of them - Toronto Hydro Corporation is at a 6 or 7 out of that 10, which then imparts a certain credit rating, how much do the unregulated businesses, particularly the ones in some sort of trading activity notch down that from 6 to 7?  


And what we have been given to understand is that it's not going to take the company down from a 6 or 7 down to a 4 or 5, but it might take us down from a 7.5 to a 7.2 or something like that.  That's the drag that these other companies cause.  So --

     MR. KAISER:  Here's my concern.  In large terms, people might look at this, the average person on the street.  You read something like this and you think, Okay, they are in this unregulated business.  It has an impact on their cost of borrowing, it affects their rating.  And low and behold the thing turns out to be a winner and there is a big chunk of money.  But that all goes to the unregulated.  It doesn't go to the benefit of the ratepayer, that goes to the benefit strictly of the shareholder as it turns out.  It seems a bit of an inequity; would you agree?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Chair, I think if there is a lot of up side to this, we talked a bit about the shared-services model costs -- regulatory business. And we will see this afternoon when we look at some of our telecom, for example, potential future growth.  If these businesses are starting to take over more, it will benefit the customer in the fact that the LDC will be able to flow more costs through some of these areas.  


And other thing I want to point out, Mr. Chair, is when we look at the 2005, the last rating for S&P, the major rating factors that are actually stated there, none of them are related to the unregulated business.  So you see, when you look at the July 8, 2005 credit rating reports, it says: 

“A major rating factors on the strength side are predominantly low-risk electricity distribution; attractive and mature service franchise; supporting price regulation; and support from shareholders.”


And the weaknesses it talks about: 

“The risk of political intervention and the regulatory regime; concentrated financial profile; and lack of access to direct equity capital.”  


This is the last one we received and this is really reflective of the reduction of our Energy Services business and shows that the rating agency doesn’t see as much risk as they probably saw in the future because we're exiting this market. 

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  


One last line of questions.  Just looking at the document I've given you, I tried to -- I know there were some adjustments to some of these figures, and I've tried to update the capital expenditures and the amortization.  As I look, starting in ‘02 you had capital expenditures -- and I’m doing this in the context of Mr. O’Brien’s concern about the life of the plant.  30 to 40 percent, I think he said, is beyond its depreciated life, and a concern he expressed is that this company needed to start investing in capital plant. If we go back to ’02, you charged amortization expenditures of $120 million, but only spent $115 million on capital plant.  And then we go to ‘03, you amortized $117 million, only spent 93.  And if we go to ‘04, you amortized $122 million, only spent 94.  


So we have three years in a row.  And in my rough understanding, and you are the accountant here, when we have an amortization expense, it's an expense that goes to the ratepayers, it's a cost. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  And the ordinary man thinks that that amount of money, which in effect he's being charged for in the loosest of sense, is going to be put back in the ground.  In fact, even usually a larger amount, because often the cost of the old plant is less than the cost of the new plant.  Doesn't it strike you as strange three years in a row that the amortization expenses are significantly higher than the capital expenditures?

     MR. COUILLARD:  I think a lot of it was related to timing, and it will probably be good when we get a bit more into detail of capital expenditure to ask a bit more detail to panel 3.  But as far as some of the amortization, we've made some infrastructure and -- in light of market opening, we've made some infrastructure costs, IT costs, that were done up front that probably significantly increased our amortization.  It is usually a five-year period so that will dramatically increase our costs fairly quickly, and it's not a long period.  And I do -- it is usually the first thing I look at.  Are you investing at the same rate as amortization?  That's a rule you tend to see. 

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  I would think so. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  And I've sat down with a lot of people on the operations side.  One of the big problems we have got, and in my view right now we should invest more than amortization, the reason being the assets that are currently leaving the organization are assets that are like 20 or 30 years old.  And you are replacing costs that are 20 or 30 year old, and you are replacing them with assets that are at today’s costs.  


So I think the little dip in the early years, in the last couple of years, was mainly related to some of these IT costs that were taken up front rather quickly.  And I think panel 3 can probably give you a bit more on that.  But in the near future, there is no doubt in my mind that our amortization expense will be lower than our capital expenditures. 

     MR. KAISER:  Here's my concern, I'll leave it at this and it can be addressed in argument.


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  I'm stating it up front in the event that you want to deal with it this afternoon, but I think it's a serious issue.  You have a period of four years here during which you're under-investing by about $60 million, compared to your amortization, which is money you've taken out of the ratepayers for reinvestment.  At the same time in that period, throwing $120 million in dividends to the shareholder.  It looks a bit strange.  You would agree with me on that?

     MR. COUILLARD:  I could see that, you know, from a high-level perspective it could raise some questions.  I think we've -- by looking at our financial statements, cash is not really the issue here, of saying we're taking cash away to not invest in our plant.  I think we still have a very strong cash position.  And when you look at the confidential information, the 2005 to 2010 business plan, this cash position remains strong, although we are increasing significantly our capital standing.  


So I think to consider in there, and I think Panel 3 will be better than me to answer that, is the mix of the type of work we do.  Is it highly material intensive or not?  


I can't really speak to that right now, but I do understand your concern, Mr. Chair, and we'll address that. 

     MR. KAISER:  And the final piece of this, and there may be an answer to this but I don't see it yet, is given that we've got an under-investment in the period of $60 million by any standards, and then $120 million dividend, then you come along in 2005 when we've already done a special dividend of $20 million and throw not $60 million to the City to buy some street lights.  Why did you have to buy street lights?   You didn't need to own those street lights to keep the City as a customer, did you?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, yes -- well, the business that we have right now, from a street lighting perspective, was only maintenance, because there are some IBW rules that basically mean that any capital work has to be done by an IBW contractor.  And we were not allowed to do any of this work, or any of the work on the Expressway.  


For us to own the light is a good opportunity.  We purchased that using proceeds -- it was already explained to our board.  The proceeds we are using are the remaining portion of the wholesale contract, it's all -- the money is coming really from our unregulated business.  And the reason we're buying that is that is going to give us an alternative in a viable business.  


You will see in the confidential material our street lighting business is not a business that has been very good over the last couple of years.  We've lost money in this venture, and the reason being that when this business was set up, it was set up that we would be allowed to do all the work, capital, maintenance and all that kind of work.  Since then, there was some regulation and the City was not in a position to give us that work.  


To buy the street lights, for us, makes sense.  It was really based on a business decision.  We’ve done some return analysis and that kind of thing. 

     MR. KAISER:  Was it your idea or the City's idea?

     MR. COUILLARD:  We've actually been after the City for a number of years on this issue saying, Fine, we'll by the lights. 

     MR. KAISER:  So in that year, 2005, you took $60 million out of the company to buy the street lights and another $30 for a special dividend.  So that $90, you’re saying, came from bank account of the unregulated company?   

     MR. COUILLARD:  Oh, absolutely. 

     MR. KAISER:  So they had $90 million sitting in the bank in 2005? 

     MR. COUILLARD:  Right now, you can see if you look at our unregulated business at the end of the year there is like 65 or something like that.  I think we have been told we should talk about it in the in-camera -- 

     MR. KAISER:  That’s fine.  You understand where I'm going.  We can resume that later.


MR. COUILLARD:  Absolutely.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, gentleman.  Anything -- 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I just wanted to give some clarity.  Mr. Chair had raised the question on the dividend policy, and just looking at 7.4 of the shareholder direction.  I just wondered if you could give me your opinion as to what you think the first line of the dividend policy, if you've got it up there, “subject to the restrictions imposed by legislation and the shareholder direction itself,” and it goes on to spell out the terms of the dividend policy.  


I'm looking for, trying to find a home for your comment that it's always the directors’ discretion. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  One of the things that we mean by -- the shareholder’s direction talks also about credit rating.  So the allegation to show the direction -- what's included there is that nothing should jeopardize our credit rating.  For example, that would guide the board.  If the dividend to be given to the City in any given year would jeopardize the credit rating of the company, then we would as management not recommend giving the dividend and then the board would have to make their own decision.  


And the legislation, to me, refers to fiduciary responsibilities that the directors have, and we've had several discussions and had legal counsel coming and educating our board members, including the ones that are city counsellors, in what are their fiduciary responsibilities.  They also have a responsibility to the debt holder, not only to the City of Toronto, and could face action if some of their decisions were not in line, and were not taking in consideration everybody's interests. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Just one other point.  I don't know if it is just clarification of stuff on the record or maybe this is new.  


The original transfer by-law establishing the corporation to begin with, I'm just trying to follow the chronology of setting up of the promissory note.  The fact that the promissory note had to be brought up to the corporate level, Toronto Hydro Corporation, what happened at that point in time?   Was that a -- when the note transferred from THESL up to THC, what was given in exchange for that?   How did that work?  I take it the original transfer by-law was -– and I think the Chair pointed out yesterday or clarified yesterday that the original promissory note was in lieu of the assets being transferred into the corporation to begin with.  Can you just walk me through how it then was transferred up?

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.  There was a transfer note issued between THESL and THC.  THC owns all the shares of THESL, so it's the 100 percent owner of THESL.  And the debt portion was transferred up to THC as well.  So there's an inter-company note between THC and THESL now. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  When the company was originally established by transfer by-law back in 1999 --

     MR. SARDANA:  1999. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Was it not the structure then that THC was 100 percent owner of THESL?   

     MR. SARDANA:  No THC was not in existence as a corporation at that time. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  So it was THESL.  So it was the incorporation of THESL -- of THC and that was in what year?   

     MR. SARDANA:  June -- it is June, 1999, sorry.  


Yes, sorry Mr. Quesnelle, THC was incorporated in June of 1999.  Now, I would have to check as to why it wasn't all structured as one at that time, but I can assure you that until everything got moved up to THC level, operating all these lines and bank accounts and things like that was a complete nightmare. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I can understand the reason for doing it.  I am just interested in the timing and what was given in consideration of the moving up.  How that worked.  I would have thought that the assets were already established through the transfer by-law of what was sitting in THESL, what was sitting in THC.  I’m just interested in what was given in consideration of that note moving. 

     MR. COUILLARD:  I can probably get back to you, Mr. Quesnelle, I just want to make sure that --

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Fine.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren, anything?   

     MR. WARREN:  I'm only here to find out where I'm supposed to be, sir. 

     MR. KAISER:  An hour from now you should be back here. 

     MR. WARREN:   Thank you sir.  


MR. KAISER:  We'll break for lunch.  


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:42 p.m.


--- Upon resuming 1:48 p.m. 

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  The Board is now going to hold a confidential, in-camera session to deal with certain exhibits that have been filed in confidence with the Board.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I'm sorry to interrupt.  I think Mr. Rodger still has the right of re-examination on the main.  And I spoke with Mr. Rodger.  I believe he only has 10 or 15 minutes. 

     MR. KAISER:  I’m sorry.  I apologize.  


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:

     MR. RODGER:  Just a few questions in redirect, Mr. Chairman.  


Mr. Zebrowski, in response to undertaking J3.1, you don't have to turn it up, this was a request that Toronto Hydro do its revised ROE collision, and we entered the McShane letter which applied the Cannon methodology.  


I don't want to ask you about the methodology itself, but it may seem puzzling to some that Toronto Hydro actually hadn't done this calculation before, that it took to the middle of this oral hearing for an undertaking to bring the results to light that Ms. McShane indicated in her letter.  And my question is, can you explain why Toronto Hydro would not have run the ROE calculation using the Cannon approach, just so it could compare that outcome compared to the ROE stated in the Rate Handbook?

     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  The reason we didn't run the calculation was because it goes back to the issue that we relied on the Handbook from the very start of the process.  We never even went back and looked at the Cannon paper, did not even attempt to understand what was involved in doing the update.  We basically took the Handbook at its face value and relied on the 9 percent that was provided in the handbook. 

     MR. RODGER:  Staying with you, Mr. Zebrowski, you had a discussion with I believe Mr. Warren on one of the proposed accounts for regulatory expenses.  And you had a dialogue on the prudence of those expenses, particularly with respect to the regular asset hearing.  Do you recall that discussion?

     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. RODGER:  Just to first provide some context for that proceeding.  Would it be fair to say that the five utilities that were selected for that common hearing really represented the test case for the recovery of reg assets for the entire LDC section?

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Rodger knows better than to lead his witness in the way he's just led him with that question. 

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  I think there's something to what Mr. Warren says.   Could you rephrase your question?

     MR. RODGER:  Was there any precedent in the electricity sector that distributors like Toronto Hydro could look to as to a how to approach this case, other than the general guidelines established by the Board?   

     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, there wasn't.  The Board made it very clear in their direction to the utilities involved in that particular proceeding that we were to be used as the test cases for all the other utilities in the province.  And one aspect of that proceeding was to look at our own regulatory assets, the prudence around those assets, and to justify the numbers that we had put forward.  


The secondary outcome of the hearing was to establish some sort of process to be used for the balance of the utilities in the province. 

     MR. RODGER:  And I believe you mentioned to Mr. Warren that Toronto Hydro's total regulatory asset claim is approximately $100 million; is that right?

     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  It was in that order, between 90 and 100 million, yes. 


MR. RODGER:  I believe you said Enersource’s total claim was approximately $30 million?

     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm not sure I specified a number.  I don't recall what Enersource’s was. 

     MR. RODGER:  But certainly Toronto Hydro’s was approximately $100 million. 

     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. RODGER:  Now, in your discussion with Mr. Warren, he had drawn attention to the fact that the filings of Toronto Hydro, Enersource and EnWin had various similarities.  And he kindly produced hundreds of pages of materials from that filing, but he didn't actually refer to anything in the material.  


And I don't think you have to turn it up, but I just wanted to refer to the objectives that you talked about.  And I'm referring to Exhibit K4.5, this is the Toronto Hydro main application in that proceeding.  And on page 4, starting at paragraph 11, the Toronto Hydro application reads as follows:  

“In a letter dated May 5th, 2004 to all LDCs and intervenors of record, the Board indicated that a goal of the combined oral hearing is to ‘assess, among other things, what would constitute the best evidence, forum and process to determine the reasonableness of regulatory assets amounts claimed or to be claimed for the remaining distributors.’ 

“Given this objective, Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited, Enersource Hydro Mississauga Inc. and EnWin Powerlines Limited, the LDCs, have worked together to establish a common set of principles that they each adopt and recommend to the OEB as the appropriate framework for its review of the individual regulatory asset applications before it.

“The LDCs guiding principles are discussed below.  The LDCs have adopted a common evidentiary format, and Toronto Hydro-Electric Systems submits that the material accompanying this application satisfies the applicable regulatory tests and will provide the OEB with sufficient evidence to enable it to review and approve Toronto Hydro-Electric Systems regulatory asset claim in a timely manner.”  

     Then if we go to the final argument that was also produced in evidence by Mr. Warren, dated October 6, 2004, again this is Toronto Hydro's final argument.  And we go again to page 4 of 35 of that final argument, paragraph 4, it reads as follows:  

“Toronto Hydro-Electric Systems emphasises that it worked cooperatively with Enersource Hydro Mississauga and EnWin Powerlines in the preparation of portions of the pre-filed evidence.  Particularly with respect to exhibit G-1, tab B, and exhibit G-1, appendix A, establishing the contextual framework for a retrospective factual inquiry, and with Hydro One and EHMI in retaining and presenting the evidence of Dr. Mark Laurie of Pacific Economics Group and his report entitled: ‘Benchmarking transmission costs of Ontario LDCs.’  

“Toronto Hydro-Electric Systems submits that these measures have contributed to a more cost-effective and efficient hearing process for the OEB and parties to this proceeding with respect to the remaining electricity distribution utility prudence reviews yet to take place." 


Mr. Zebrowski, do these quotes accurately reflect the goals that Toronto Hydro hoped to achieve by working with Enersource and EnWin?

     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, they do. 

     MR. RODGER:  And was the objective of working cooperatively with others an important one to Toronto Hydro?

     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, it always has been. 

     MR. RODGER:  And given these objectives and goals that were stated in the application and the final argument, would it be surprise to you if the applications did follow a common approach?   

     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, I think that's quite natural.  I think if we do work together, we retain the same company to assist us in the process, if we follow a common form, why redevelop the form a number of times?  It's almost like you can use a template and just fill in the blanks as you go along to some degree, yes. 

     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Warren also asked you about the length of the oral hearing for Toronto Hydro, approximately three days; is that correct?

     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's correct. 

     MR. RODGER:  And the inference seemed to be that in a three-day hearing one may not need a lot of effort, perhaps Mr. Warren believed that Mr. Zolofski, my colleague, and I needed a brief diversion from polishing our fleet of Ferraris.  But I wonder if you could just describe for the Board, from your perspective, what was involved in this proceeding. 

     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  This was a very complicated proceeding, in that we had a number of different elements that we were trying to recover.  We had market opening costs, these were the costs of preparing our systems for market opening; there were a number of variance accounts that the utility had been running, some from pre-market; there were variance accounts that tried to balance the cost of power, what the utility recovered from its customers versus what it paid for that power at the wholesale level; and we had a number of variance accounts post-market opening as well for things like transmission and wholesale market services.  So there were quite a number of different things there.  


It got complicated in terms of the allocations.  Each of these different elements required different forms of allocation to customers on different bases.  There was quite a bit of discussion around that.  

Complicating the whole exercise for Toronto Hydro, specifically, was, throughout that period, right after market opening, Toronto experienced a billing error by the IMO at the time, at the wholesale level, and that threw quite a disruption in terms of some of the calculations and trying to determine what the final actual number should have been for recovery.
     MR. RODGER:  Just in terms of the broad time lines which culminated in this three-day hearing, I believe it was January 2004, the OEB first issues its guidelines for reg. asset recovery; is that correct?
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That would be about right, yes.
     MR. RODGER:  And around May 2004, the OEB issued the first procedural order, which talked about the joint hearing.
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's right, yes.
     MR. RODGER:  And over the summer and fall, is that when your evidence was prepared?
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  The evidence was filed early in the summer, I believe.  I’m trying to recall now.  In around the June time frame, we went through an interrogatory process, again June, July, and I think the hearing itself, if I remember correctly, took place in September.
     MR. RODGER:  Approximately what period of months until the first procedural order, until your submissions to the Board were concluded, including the clarification of the IMO billing error.
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  We probably started the process in May of 2004.  In early 2005, we did receive an interim approval on rates from the Board pending a final -- pending a filing of our annual financial statements, which really allowed the Board to give the auditors the opportunity to go through the numbers to make sure that we had accounted for the IMO billing error correctly.  That was filed - I can't remember the dates now - early 2005.  It was probably in around March, maybe, 2005 when we did receive our final order.
     MR. RODGER:  And could you identify approximately how many people at Toronto Hydro was involved in this entire effort in total?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, probably 10 to 15.
     MR. RODGER:  And were your external legal advisors involved with that group throughout this process?
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, they were.
     MR. RODGER:  You said that your total claim was approximately $100 million.  Am I right when I say that the OEB approved recovery of approximately $100 million in regulatory assets?
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes.  There were no disallowances.  In fact, there were a few additions made to the amounts we claimed.  Decisions had arisen regarding certain interest costs that we were able to claim as well.
     MR. RODGER:  In your view, was the application and the approach that you took successful?
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, it was.
     MR. RODGER:  Now, you had started to give an answer to Mr. Warren about working with other utilities in other proceedings.  You started to describe the service area amendment proceeding but you were interrupted.  I wonder if you could complete your answer now, please.
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  This was a policy issue that the Board held a hearing on which stemmed from a number of different applications from other utilities that were seeking to amend their service areas.  Toronto Hydro did not have a specific application in front of the Board, but because it was such an important policy issue, we felt that we should be involved.  

Our approach was to join a coalition with a number of other utilities - I can't recall the number, but it’s probably in the order of six or seven different utilities - and the reason for the coalition was because we all had a common platform that we wanted to work from, and also it provided us a good opportunity to share the cost of the proceeding which could have been very expensive if we had approached that each, individually.  So we engaged common counsel and we had a consultant that we jointly hired as well.
     MR. RODGER:  And, after going through that process, what conclusions, if any, could be make about cost-savings as pertaining to Toronto Hydro?
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Well, I thought it was a very, very efficient process.  Again, if we had approached it separately, the cost to the individual utilities would have been far in excess of what we had spent individually in that particular proceeding.  I don't think the results may have been quite as good.  The pooling allowed us to approach this at a more comprehensive level, I think, than if we had done it individually.  I think, in the end, it was -- we provide good evidence for the Board.
     MR. RODGER:  And is there any other recent examples where Toronto Hydro has worked with other LDCs in proceedings before this Board to share costs?
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes.  The other one was the CDM proceeding that was held late in 2005.  Toronto Hydro was part of the coalition of large distributors.  We were the first group to appear in front of the Board to seek recovery -- to seek approval of our CDM programs.  All six utilities worked together and shared all the costs, including legal costs.
     MR. RODGER:  And would you consider similar cooperative approaches with other LDCs in the future concerning matters coming before this Board?
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes.  We are continually working with the coalition of large distributors on all regulatory matter that's come up.  If we feel that there are joint matters that we can work together on, then we will do that.  

Another area that we had quite a bit of common discussion on was in around the development of the EDR handbook.  Although there were differences of opinion and we did not form coalitions necessarily on the entire handbook, there were parcels of that proceeding that we did join in with the coalitions as well.
     MR. RODGER:  Finally, Mr. Zebrowski, you were asked about Toronto Hydro’s approach to cost allocation in its current application before the Board.  Are you also aware of the pre-filed evidence filed by the Toronto District School Board?
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, I am.
     MR. RODGER:  Are you aware of the testimony provided by the Toronto District School Board’s representative earlier this week?
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, I am.
     MR. RODGER:  I want to put a proposition to you and ask you to respond from a cost-allocation, rate-design perspective.  And the proposition is that Toronto Hydro should have taken a different approach than it did in this application in order to produce a result where the Toronto District School Board would specifically receive lower distribution rates than what is currently proposed in this application; and that all other Toronto Hydro ratepayers should pay higher distribution rates than what is currently proposed in order to provide the Toronto District School Board with those lower distribution rates.  

I wonder if you would please provide your response to this proposition from a cost-allocation and rate-design perspective.
     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Well, that kind of comment really indicates that the individual really was looking for a cross-subsidy.  We do an allocation on a cost basis, a cost-causality basis, as best we can.  Customers pay -- their rates are established based allocation of costs depending on certain levels of usage within the system.  And to advantage one group of customers over another would mean that, if we are to be held whole on a revenue requirement, that there would be funds being transferred between different customer classes.
     MR. RODGER:  Those are my questions.  

Thank you, sir.
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger. 

Mr. Millar?
     MR. MILLAR:  I think that's all of the non-confidential questions for this panel, Mr. Chair.  Perhaps we should go in camera.

--- In-camera session commenced at 2:08 p.m.

[Note:  Page 107, line 6, to page 182, line 2, has been redacted]

--- In-camera session concluded at 4:25 p.m.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:



MR. MILLAR:  It appears that the calendar of all three Board members is free on Tuesday, and I think there is a room available that day as well.  However, Mr. Rodger was hoping that we could sit Monday, if that's possible, and I won't speak for him.  Maybe he could address that.   


I do note that you are scheduled to a sit on a motion, the OPS motion which I think starts in the morning, but I'm personally not involved in that so I don't know if that’s an entire day.  Mr. Rodger. 

     MR. KAISER:  I don't know whether it's an entire day or not, but that is the problem.  

     MR. RODGER:  What I was going to suggest, sir, is we are certainly ready to make this panel available Monday afternoon if that would help.  I'm just concerned that if it spills over to Tuesday and we don't get Panel 3 done on Tuesday, as I mentioned to the Board last week, I'm committed out of town Wednesday, Thursday, Friday.  If the motion did finish early, we would certainly be up here ready to proceed. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I think we're done with this panel.  None of the counsel have questions left.  I don't know if you have questions. 

     MR. KAISER:  I do have some. 

     MR. MILLAR:   Pardon me?


MR. KAISER:  I do have some.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, you so. 

     MR. KAISER:  Well, we can certainly proceed on that basis.  If you want to have the panel ready to –- I think there is a good chance that the motion might finish in the morning, and subject to other counsel, I guess you can canvas, you can notify counsel, I guess, say by noon on Monday, whether we'll be in a position to proceed at 1:00. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Some of the counsel are here.  I don't know if any of them have pre-existing commitments.  I think Hydro One is finished now, if I'm not mistaken. 

     MR. WARREN:  I think if it hasn't finished, the three Board members will commit virtual suicide. 

     MR. KAISER:  They are less patient than we are.  


Let's proceed on that basis.  You’ll notify all counsel at 12:00 whether we are going ahead at 1:00 on Monday or not.  In any event, we'll plan on sitting all day Tuesday, as long as we have to, to see if we can get through this to accommodate everyone. 

     MR. MILLAR:  I think we should be able to finish Tuesday, Mr. Chair. 

     MR. KAISER:  I think so.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Pardon me, Mr. Chairman, I just wanted to clarify whether we are sitting on Monday just to finish this panel or whether we are planning on moving –

     MR. KAISER:  No, we'll proceed with the other panel.  I understand it's available, and we'll take advantage of all the time that we have.  


Just one comment on argument.  Somebody asked me to clarify something I said earlier.  I said we'll proceed by way of written argument and the applicant’s argument will be due one week after we finish the case.  So let’s say we finish the case on Tuesday, it will be due the following Tuesday, and then the intervenors would have their argument a week after that.  But we would like you, Mr. Millar, to file your argument at the same time as the applicant, and we will give you an opportunity to reply, just as we'll give the applicant an opportunity to reply.  We think it's important that the intervenors know what Board counsel’s position is.  There are some contentious issues, including this ROE matter that has been raised.  


So that's acceptable to you?   

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chairman. 

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll adjourn, then, until sometime to be determined, possibly 1:00 Monday, but certainly 9:30 Tuesday.  


Thank you again, gentlemen.  Have a good weekend.  


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:30 p.m.
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